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1 Blackwood (Acacia melanoxylon)

2 Merbau (Intsia bijuga)

3 Mahogany (Swietenia sp.)

4 Hoop Pine (Araucaria cunninghamii)

5 Tasmanian Oak (Eucalyptus obliqua)

6 Spotted Gum (Corymbia maculata)

7 Radiata Pine (Pinus radiata)

 
The majority of wood samples used to  
produce the tangrams in this report  
were provided by CSIRO Materials  
Science and Engineering.

Tangram (Chinese origin, meaning ‘seven 
boards of skill’) is a dissection puzzle consisting 
of seven flat shapes, called tans, which are put 
together to form shapes. The objective of the 
puzzle is to form a specific shape (given only 
in outline or silhouette) using all seven pieces, 
which may not overlap.

Forest & Wood Products Australia Limited 
(FWPA) is an industry services company 
providing a national, integrated strategy 
to increase demand for forest and wood 
products and reduce the impediments to 
their supply. FWPA is committed to helping 
the forest and wood products industry to  
be collaborative, innovative, sustainable  
and competitive.

VISION 

To be the industry’s leading source of knowledge, 
and the principal investor in innovation and 
promotion. 

MISSION 

To provide services to the industry, and to 
increase its sustainability and international 
competitiveness. These services include direct 
and collaborative investment in: 

•	 Research	and	development	to	provide	
innovative solutions for the industry, and 

•	 Promotion	of	the	industry’s	products,	services	
and values. 

STRATEGIES 

1.	Promote	the	benefits	and	use	of	forests	and	
wood products in accord with changing 
community attitudes, environmental awareness, 
and market trends. 

2. Invest in and co-ordinate research and 
development to improve the industry’s 
competitiveness, inform its climate change 
response, enhance investment, increase usage, 
and ensure the sustainability of forests, wood 
products and services. 

3. Expand the industry’s capacity and capability – 
including knowledge generation and adoption, 
and promotion – to facilitate growth. 

4.	 Increase	FWPA’s	capacity	and	scope	to	provide	
services for the industry’s benefit. 

* Strategy 4 is still under development and is 

consequently not included in the operations section of 

this annual report.
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THE YEAR’S HIGHLIGHTS

Promoting the industry

The	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	program	was	
launched in October 2008 with the consumer 
advertising	campaign.	Advertisements	have	been	run	
in major weekend papers and key lifestyle magazines 
such as Home Beautiful and Burke’s Backyard.  
Industry	support	of	the	Program	has	been	high,	as	
evidenced by the 300 organisations that signed 
up	for	membership	of	the	Partner	Program	which	
licenses	them	to	use	the	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	
brand in their promotion activities.

For further information about industry promotion,

please refer to p14

Building skills

FWPA	supports	scholarships,	awards	and	prizes	
that provide opportunities to increase the knowledge 
and skills of individuals in our industry and also 
to enhance the capability to create and apply 
knowledge.

During	the	year	FWPA	funded	10	PhD	students,	a	
World Forest Institute (WFI) fellow and two Denis 
Cullity research fellows to support the development 
of	skills	in	the	industry.	FWPA	also	supported	the	
Science	and	Innovation	Awards	for	Young	People	
in	Agriculture,	Fisheries	and	Forestry,	providing	an	
award for a research project by a budding scientist 
that focussed on forest and wood products.

For further information about skills support,

please refer to p43

Major wood science initiative

FWPA	will	contribute	$2	million	over	a	five-year	
period to the Solid Wood Initiative (SWI) to allow 
Australian	and	New	Zealand	researchers	to	create	
mill-ready technologies that improve products and 
profit	margin.	

Significantly,	it	provides	our	members	who	are	
sawlog levy payers with access to new research 
and intellectual property that not only relates to solid 
wood activities but also to work completed under its 
predecessor, the Wood Quality Initiative.

Investing in research  
and development

While	FWPA	has	broadened	its	activities,	research	
and	development	(R&D)	investment	is	still	a	key	
activity for the Company. During the year, 41 projects 
were	initiated	representing	$6.8	million	of	FWPA	
commitment with combined total project values 
(FWPA	and	other	investors)	of	$25.6	million.

A	total	of	55	projects	were	completed	in	2008/09	
with	FWPA	investments	totalling	$6.8	million	on	total	
project	values	of	$23	million.

At	the	close	of	the	financial	year,	FWPA	had	48	active	
projects with contracted completion dates through to 
2013	and	committed	payments	of	$9	million.

A comprehensive list of R&D projects is listed in  

the Appendix on p75
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Research and development 
investment priorities

During the year, the Board approved the adoption 
of	13	R&D	investment	priorities	covering	the	full	
supply	chain	from	market	access	to	tree	growing.	An	
investment plan for promoting wood as a material 
for sustainable buildings was also approved by the 
Board as one of the investment priorities.

For further information about our R&D Investment 

priorities, please refer to p25

Financial performance

During	the	2008/09	financial	year,	Company	
expenditure	was	$11.1	million	compared	to	an	
income	of	$9.6	million,	thus	reducing	our	financial	
assets	by	$1.5	million.	This	reduction	in	financial	
assets	is	in	accordance	with	the	5-year	plan	
approved	by	the	Board.	The	total	financial	assets	at	
30	June	2009	were	$10.7	million.		

The economic downturn reduced income by 
5%	compared	to	the	previous	12	months,	
while expenditure on matchable research and 
development	was	down	only	3%	compared	to	the	
previous 12 months. Total expenditure on matchable 
R&D	activities	as	defined	under	the	statutory	funding	
agreement	was	$7.5	million,	well	in	excess	of	the	
specified	minimum	of	$6.7	million.

For further information about our financial 

performance, please refer to p52

FWPA membership

The	FWPA	Constitution	allows	levy	payers	to	
become members of the Company, providing them 
with	a	say	in	how	FWPA	operates	through	their	
voting	entitlements	at	the	AGM.	Since	incorporation,	
FWPA	has	signed	up	more	than	60	member	
companies, spanning the range of forest growers, 
wood processors and importers that make up 
our	levy	classes.	FWPA	continues	to	promote	the	
opportunity for levy payers to become members.

Corporate governance

At	incorporation,	FWPA	committed	to	a	planned	
Board renewal process to ensure that members 
had a voice in the corporate governance of the 
Company.	At	the	2008	AGM	three	new	Directors	
were	appointed.	At	the	2009	AGM	it	is	expected	that	
another two Directors will be elected to appointment 
to the Board.

During the year, the Directors approved new terms 
of reference for the three Board subcommittees and 
delegated authorities. The Board also approved 
a new human resource policy and procedures, 
a corruption and fraud control policy and a 
whistleblower policy.

For further information about corporate governance, 

please refer to p49
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

It is with great pleasure that I provide this 
progress report to Company members and 
other stakeholders interested in the activities 
of	Forest	and	Wood	Products	Australia	
Limited	(FWPA).

The tumultuous events over the past 12 months in 
the broader economy have reduced income, but the 
Company	remains	in	a	very	good	financial	position.	
The	strong	balance	sheet	has	allowed	FWPA	to	
deliver its commitments to invest in research and 
development	(R&D)	and	undertake	the	generic	
promotion	of	the	industry	via	the	Wood.	Naturally	
Better.™	program.

In	its	second	year	of	operation	(and	first	full	
12-month year), the Company has achieved 
important milestones.

In October 2008, I chaired the Company’s inaugural 
annual	general	meeting	(AGM)	which	was	attended	
by more than 60 Company members, levy payers 
and	other	stakeholders.	At	this	meeting,	members	
elected three new directors to the Board: Mr Vince 
Erasmus,	Mr	Nick	Roberts	and	Mr	Jim	Snelson.	
These candidates were recommended to the Board 
by an arms’ length Director Selection Committee, 
composed of representatives from four national 
industry associations and one Board nominee.

The establishment of the Director Selection 
Committee is one of the many strengths of the 
Company constitution. However, the past 21 
months	of	operation	has	identified	areas	that	require	
refinement	or	greater	clarity.	To	this	end,	a	package	
of constitutional changes will be presented to 
company	members	at	this	year’s	AGM.

While the Company is a relatively new entity, it 
enjoys the legacy of its predecessor organisation, 
the	Forest	and	Wood	Products	Research	and	
Development	Corporation	(FWPRDC).	This	includes	
well-established	finance	and	administration	
systems, experienced Board members and staff, a 
strong balance sheet and good relationships with 
research providers.

While these legacies are a substantial asset, the 
Board and management team have demonstrated 
a commitment to continuous improvement. 
Management	and	Board	reporting	has	been	refined	
to improve transparency and accountability. Terms of 
reference for Board subcommittees and delegation 
authorities have been amended to reduce duplication 
and streamline decision making. Two internal audits 
have been completed during the year and no 
substantive	issues	were	identified.	These	are	all	very	
positive initiatives that can only make the Company 
stronger and better able to deliver outcomes to its 
members and other stakeholders.

This evolution extends to the Board and its 
commitment to renewal. The incumbent Directors 
of	FWPRDC	became	the	directors	of	FWPA	at	the	
time of incorporation. However, the Board made 
a commitment to a managed transition so that 
all Directors would be progressively elected by 
Company	members	within	three	years.	At	this	 
year’s	AGM,	members	will	be	asked	to	elect	two	
directors	with	the	final	tranche	of	Directors	to	be	
elected in 2010. 

Another	key	activity	completed	was	the	identification	
and	adoption	of	R&D	investment	priorities.	These	
13 priorities will assist the Board, management and 
research	providers	to	identify	suitable	R&D	projects	
that will have the greatest outcomes for company 
members	and	other	key	stakeholders.	While	FWPA	 
is	a	significant	force	in	co-ordinating	R&D,	it	
accounts	for	only	7%	of	R&D	investment	in	the	 
forest and wood products sector. Therefore, we 
need to focus our investments rather than spread 
our funds too thinly. 

The introduction and promotion of these investment 
priorities has been warmly welcomed in many 
quarters. These priorities have been communicated 
to various advisory groups and some suppliers.

The new investment plan methodology is also being 
well received as it provides clarity and direction for 
researchers, advisory group members and other 
stakeholders. It is important to ensure that plans are 
actively managed and amended in relation to new 
activities or knowledge.

The	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	marketing	program	
was launched in October 2008. It is a bold industry 
initiative designed to increase market share by 
creating a recognisable brand and logo that will 
become associated with the advantages of wood,  
at	specifier,	trade	and	consumer	levels.
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This multi-million dollar initiative is aimed at 
positioning wood as a preferred material in the eyes 
of consumers and the design and construction 
industries — based on its environmental, aesthetic, 
economic, renewable and ‘architecturally 
smart’ characteristics.

A	core	component	of	the	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	
program is advertising in magazines and newspapers 
to	highlight	the	environmental	benefits	of	wood	and	
the important role wood products play in tackling 
climate change through wood’s carbon storage and 
renewable and sustainable qualities.

The	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	program	plans	to	 
drive home these positive industry messages.  
The	first	targets	of	the	campaign’s	initial	stages	are	
consumers. Later we will address professionals, 
including	architects,	specifiers,	policy	makers	and	
others in the construction industries.

Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	highlights	a	central	
reason	for	creating	FWPA	as	an	industry	services	
company.	While	R&D	investments	will	continue	to	
be a major focus for the Company, the addition 
of generic promotion activities and other industry 
services creates the opportunity to build stronger 
relationships with members and other stakeholders. 
It is envisioned that the success of the Company 
in	delivering	its	5-year	strategy	will	be	a	significant	
contribution to the success of the overall industry.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all 
my fellow Directors for their commitment and 
contribution, and especially acknowledge the 
service of those who retired during the year or have 
announced	their	intention	to	retire.	Also,	I	would	
like	to	thank	Ric	Sinclair	for	his	leadership	and	the	
staff for their enthusiasm for taking the Company to 
the next stage in its evolution. I would also like to 
acknowledge the commitment of all participants in 
our industry advisory groups, both past and present, 
who help ensure that our investments are closely tied 
to industry outcomes.

CHAIRMAN

Mr Ron Adams
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT

Over the past 12 months, I have been privileged 
to talk with many company members, levy 
payers	and	other	stakeholders	about	FWPA	
and its activities. In each conversation or public 
presentation, I have been encouraged by the 
high degree of support and positive feedback.

My	message	to	industry	has	been	simple:	FWPA	
is an industry services company, owned by 
industry, and is committed to helping the industry 
grow	through	targeted	R&D	investments,	generic	
promotion and other services as requested 
by members.

During	the	2008/09	financial	year,	the	Company	has	
been focused on assembling the building blocks to 
deliver	the	5-year	Strategic	Plan	that	was	approved	
by the Board in May 2008. 

These building blocks consist of improving internal 
company systems, recruitment and training of key 
staff, creating stronger linkages with company 
members, levy payers and other stakeholders, and 
securing	a	cost-effective	and	efficient	supplier	base.

The Company is in the fortunate position to be able 
to build on the strong foundation established by its 
predecessor organisation, the Forest and Wood 
Products	Research	and	Development	Corporation	
(FWPRDC).	This	included	integrated	financial	
systems,	R&D	tracking	and	reporting	systems,	and	
R&D	projects	in	progress.

Building on this foundation, we have streamlined 
company decision-making processes, improved 
internal	financial	controls	and	introduced	a	new	
human resources system. Each of these changes 
is designed to make the organisation more 
accountable, transparent and process driven.

We have also added a small marketing and 
communications team, led by Sarah Humphrey, 
which has an initial focus on improving our strategy 
for	capacity,	adoption	and	promotion	of	R&D	and	
corporate activities. Sarah’s team also plays a key 
role in the generic promotion program.

Another	important	process	improvement	has	been	to	
streamline	R&D	milestones	and	make	R&D	suppliers	
more accountable for deadlines and outcomes from 
their activities. 

The	FWPA’s	strategic	plan	introduced	industry	
services as a new strategy. To date there has 
been	no	significant	activity	but	work	is	under	way	
to	develop	a	new	industry	service	to	fulfil	FWPA’s	
commitment.	FWPA	has	been	supporting	a	
marketing	campaign	for	Australian	Forestry	Standard	
Ltd as an interim activity.

One of the perennial challenges for any organisation 
involved	in	pre-competitive	R&D	and	generic	
marketing is how to demonstrate the linkage 
between investments and outcomes. 

For	many	people,	R&D	and	marketing	would	appear	
to be diametrically opposed disciplines. In reality, 
they share many similarities: long-term focus; 
driven by innovation; challenge to the status quo; 
require the support and engagement of multiple 
stakeholders; and influence rather than deliver the 
final	outcomes.	The	list	could	go	on	and	on.

There are potentially strong synergies between  
the	R&D	and	generic	marketing	activities	of	FWPA.	
Each requires a detailed understanding of the market 
and industry needs and close engagement with 
Company members and other key stakeholders.  
It also needs a portfolio approach to strategies and 
activities as there is no single magic bullet. This 
portfolio approach should include some ‘blue sky’  
or riskier investment, along with some close-to-
market	sure-fire	wins.

One	of	the	critical	challenges	is	to	adequately	define	
what outcome is desired from the pre-competitive 
R&D	and	generic	marketing	investments.	Outcomes	
can be purely commercial (i.e. return on investment, 
increased price or market share), of broader public 
benefit	or	a	combination	of	both.	This	situation	
contrasts sharply with activities funded by a single 
commercial	entity	where	the	costs	and	benefits	can	
be easily trapped and linked to overall company 
performance.

FWPA	is	funded	by	nearly	all	the	companies	within	
the	Australian	forest	and	wood	products	sector,	with	
the exception of pulp and paper manufacturers. 
Funding is provided by large and small private 
companies and government agencies. The Company 
is funded by domestic producers and by importers. 
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT

The	single	largest	funder	is	the	Australian	
Government, which provides dollar-for-dollar 
matching	for	R&D	activities	in	accordance	with	
the	Statutory	Funding	Agreement	(SFA).	The	SFA	
states that funds are for “research and development 
activities	related	to	the	Industry,	for	the	benefit	of	the	
Industry,	and	also	for	the	benefit	of	the	Australian	
community generally”.

The	outcomes	that	FWPA	seeks	from	its	 
investments	are	a	mixture	of	commercial	benefits	
that accrue to the overall industry (e.g. increased 
market	share,	profitability,	efficiency)	and	public	
good	benefits	that	accrue	to	overall	Australian	
community (e.g. enhanced sustainability, regional 
development, balance of trade, skills development, 
and biosecurity).

FWPA	has	limited	human	and	financial	resources	so	
the constant challenge is to prioritise our activities 
to ensure that we can deliver promised outcomes 
to	stakeholders.	The	new	R&D	investment	priorities	
and their investment plans are intended to assist in 
this	process.	Another	key	strategy	is	to	build	formal	
and informal alliances with other organisations where 
there	are	clearly	defined	and	achievable	synergies.	

To	this	end,	FWPA	has	played	a	key	role	in	the	
formulation of a national research, development 
and extension strategy for the forest and wood 
products sector. We are also building closer working 
relationships with other organisations within the 
sector, such as the national and state associations, 
and research providers. Finally, we work with other 
rural	research	and	development	corporations	(RDCs)	
in joint research or other activities that improve 
outcomes and/or reduce costs.

MANAGING DIRECTOR

Mr Ric Sinclair

relationships with other organisations within the 
sector, such as the national and state associations, 
and research providers. Finally, we work with other 

(RDCs)
in joint research or other activities that improve 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board

The	constitution	of	Forest	&	Wood	Products	Australia	
allows	between	five	and	nine	Directors,	including	the	
Managing Director, who is appointed by the Board.  
At	least	two	of	the	Board’s	non-executive	Directors	
must also be Independent Directors (not holding 
positions	within	any	FWPA	member	companies).	
During the reporting period the Board comprised 
nine Directors, including the Managing Director and 
one outgoing Director. The Company is seeking to 
appoint two new Directors, one of whom must be an 
Independent	Director	as	defined	within	the	company	
Constitution. In line with the company Constitution and 
a commitment by all incumbent Directors, a Board 
renewal process was initiated in 2008. Directors have 
held	their	positions	since	3	September	2007,	with	the	
exception	of	Nick	Roberts,	Jim	Snelson	and	Vince	
Erasmus	(appointed	at	AGM	on	8	October	2008).	 
Mr	Roberts	also	held	a	casual	position	on	the	Board	
from	October	2007.

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Ron Adams (1)

Managing	director	of	Wespine	Industries	Pty	Ltd,	 
Mr	Adams	is	also	a	member	of	CSIRO	Manufacturing	
Sector	Advisory	Committee,	councillor	of	Forest	
Industries	Federation	of	WA	and	trustee	of	J.W.	
Gottstein Memorial Trust. He was formerly a director 
of	National	Association	of	Forest	Industries	(NAFI),	
member	of	WA	Minister	for	Forestry’s	Timber	Plantation	
Advisory	Group	and	The	Australian	Plantation	
Products	and	Paper	Industry	Council	(A3P).	He	holds	
an associateship in Mechanical Engineering, is a 
graduate of the Harvard Business School International 
Advanced	Management	Programme	and	a	Fellow	of	
the	Australian	Institute	of	Company	Directors.	

Board responsibilities: Member	of	the	Audit	
and Finance Committee and Chair of the Market 
Knowledge	and	Development	Advisory	Group.

DEPUTY CHAIRMAN AND  
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Peter Zed (2)

Mr	Zed	is	a	timber	industry	consultant.	Previously,	he	
was	CEO	of	Allied	Timber	Products	and	operations	
and	general	manager	for	Weyerhaeuser	Australia.	He	
is	also	a	member	of	CSIRO’s	Agribusiness	Sector	
Advisory	Committees,	trustee	of	the	J.W.	Gottstein	
Memorial	Trust	and	a	former	director	of	NAFI,	
Plantation	Timber	Association	of	Australia,	Timber	
Research	and	Development	Advisory	Council,	
Timber Queensland and Queensland Timber Board. 
He holds an honours degree in Forestry. 

Board responsibilities: Chair	of	the	R&D	Investment	
Committee	and	Chair	of	the	Solid	Wood	Processing	
Advisory	Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
(INDEPENDENT)

Ms Kathryn Adams (3)

Ms	Adams	is	a	lawyer,	agricultural	microbiologist	and	
a	senior	research	fellow	with	the	Australian	Centre	
for	Intellectual	Property	in	Agriculture.	She	is	a	non-
executive	director	of	Cotton	CRC,	Future	Farming	
Industries	CRC,	Australian	Forestry	Standard	Ltd	
and	Safe	Food	Production	Queensland.	Formerly,	
she was executive director of the Queensland 
Environmental	Protection	Agency	and	FWPRDC,	
director of Queensland Horticulture Institute, non-
executive	director	of	Horticulture	Research	and	
Development	Corporation,	Grains	RDC	and	Cotton	
RDC.	She	holds	a	Masters	in	Law,	Environmental	
Studies and Business and is a Fellow of the 
Australian	Institute	of	Company	Directors.

Board responsibilities: Chair	of	the	Promotion,	
Services and Communication Committee and 
Member	of	the	Audit	and	Finance	Committee.

1 2 3 4



9	//	ORGANISATION

FW
PA

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T 

08
/0

9

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Vince Erasmus (4)

Mr	Erasmus	is	the	chief	executive	officer	of one 
of	Australia’s	largest	hardwood	plantation	forestry	
managers – ITC Limited.  
A	qualified	forester	and	experienced	sawmiller,	he	
has extensive skills and expertise in management 
of both softwood and hardwood capacity in South 
Africa	and	Australia	as	well	as	broad	experience	
in the solid wood-processing environment. He is a 
non-executive	director	of	Forest	Enterprises	Australia	
Pty	Ltd,	FSC	Australia,	National	Association	of	Forest	
Industries and World Forestry Center.

Board responsibilities: Member of the  
R&D	Investment	Committee.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
(INDEPENDENT)

Dr Sadanandan Nambiar (5)

Dr	Nambiar	is	an	honorary	fellow	at	CSIRO	and	a	
member	of	the	CRC	for	Forestry	Research	Advisory	
Panel.	He	is	also	actively	involved	in	R&D	and	
capacity building to support the development of 
sustainable forestry in the developing countries of 
Asia	and	South	America.	Formerly,	he	has	held	roles	
as chief research scientist and director of science 
at	CSIRO	Forestry	and	Forest	Products	and	as	
a senior associate in the Centre for International 
Forestry	Research.	Dr	Nambiar	holds	a	doctorate	in	
Agricultural	Science.	

Board responsibilities: Member	of	the	R&D	
Investment Committee, Chair of the Sustainability 
and	Resources	Advisory	Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Nick Roberts (6)

Mr	Roberts	is	CEO	of	Forests	NSW.	Previously,	he	
was	managing	director	of	Weyerhaeuser	Australia,	
president	of	the	New	Zealand	Forest	Owners’	
Association,	director	of	Forest	Research,	and	
inaugural	Chair	of	A3P.	He	holds	a	Master	of	Science	
in Wood Science. 

Board responsibilities: Member	of	the	Promotion,	
Services and Communication Committee, Chair of 
the	Engineered	Wood	Products	Advisory	Group	and	
Member	of	the	R&D	Investment	Committee.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Jim Snelson (7)

Mr Snelson is an experienced business leader 
and	CEO	of	Carter	Holt	Harvey	Wood	Products,	
an	Australasian	forest	products	company,	with	
significant	interests	in	wood	products,	pulp,	paper	
and packaging. He brings extensive strategic 
business restructuring and market development skills 
gained over more than 20 years. 

Board responsibilities: Chair	of	the	Audit	and	
Finance	Committee,	Member	of	the	Promotion,	
Services and Communication Committee.

MANAGING DIRECTOR

Mr Ric Sinclair (8)

Mr Sinclair has held operations, marketing and 
strategy roles at Origin Energy, KH Foods, Chiquita 
Brands	and	Amcor/PaperlinX.	He	holds	a	BSc	
(Forestry)	and	an	MBA.	Mr	Sinclair	was	appointed	to	
the role of Managing Director on 2 June 2008.

Board responsibilities: Member	of	the	R&D	
Investment	Committee,	the	Promotion,	Services	&	
Communication Committee and invited guest to the 
Audit	&	Finance	Committee.

5 6 7 8
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OUR STAFF

Director Selection Process

The company constitution requires that the selection process for 
new Directors should identify nominees who will complement and 
strengthen	the	skills	of	the	continuing	Directors,	such	that	the	final	
Board will have a balance of prescribed skills.

The call for candidates is advertised broadly and individuals or 
organisations can propose Director candidates. These applicants 
are reviewed by an independent Director Selection Committee. 
As	described	in	clause	13	of	the	constitution,	this	committee	has	
representation	from	four	national	industry	associations,	an	FWPA	
Board nominee and a Board member as the non-voting chair.

The Director Selection Committee must review applicants for 
suitability	as	defined	in	the	FWPA	constitution	to	ensure	that	the	
company has a skills based Board. The committee is required 
to	select	candidates	that	fill	identified	skills	gaps	within	the	
ongoing Board. The Constitution also requires a minimum of two 
Independent Directors on the Board.

The First Year

Candidates for the three vacancies in 2008 were considered by a 
Director Selection Committee with the following membership:

	 Mr	Kim	Creak	–	Chairman	A3P,	General	Manager	(Operations	
&	Sales),	Forestry	Tasmania

	 Mr	Rob	Cairns	–	State	Manager,	Tasman	K	B	Pty	Ltd,	
representing	Australian	Timber	Importers	Federation

	 Mr	Warwick	Ragg	–	Chief	Executive,	 
Australian	Forest	Growers

	 Mr	Allan	Hansard	–	Chief	Executive,	National	Association	of	
Forest Industries

	 Dr	Glen	Kile	–	former	Chief,	CSIRO	Forestry	&	Forest	Products,	
former	Managing	Director	–	FWPA	 
Director	–	Plant	Health	Australia

 Ms	Kathryn	Adams	served	as	the	committee’s	 
non-voting	chair,	being	an	FWPA	Director	who	was	 
not retiring 

The Committee recommended Mr Vince Erasmus,  
Mr	Nick	Roberts	and	Mr	Jim	Snelson	as	new	FWPA	Directors,	
which	was	endorsed	at	the	Annual	General	Meeting	in	October	
2008 by the voting members.

Continuing Board Renewal

In 2009, two more Director positions will be vacated as part of a 
Board renewal process to see all Board positions elected within 
the	first	three	years	of	the	company’s	inception.	The	Director	
Selection	Committee	will	be	chaired	by	Mr	Nick	Roberts	and	the	
committee	will	provide	its	nominees	to	the	AGM	in	October	2009.

FWPA	has	seven	full-time	staff	members,	 
including the Managing Director.

MANAGING DIRECTOR

Mr Ric Sinclair

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGER

Dr Chris Lafferty (1)

BUSINESS MANAGER

Mr Jason See (2)

OUR MEMBERS

Any	organisation	that	pays	the	wood	products	or	
forest growers levy or the charge on imported timber 
products	is	entitled	to	become	a	member	of	FWPA.	
Membership is not automatic and companies must 
apply.

Members	of	FWPA	are	involved	in	creating	further	
growth and improvement while working towards 
a sustainable future for the industry. Members are 
entitled to vote on all resolutions at general meetings 
of the company. The voting rights of a member are 
proportional to the value of levy payments they have 
made	in	the	preceding	financial	year.

At	30	June,	FWPA	had	62	registered	member	
organisations with representatives across the 
spectrum of timber volumes and from each levy 
group.	At	right	is	a	list	of	current	members.

1 2
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OUR STAFF

FWPA Members
Allen	Taylor	&	Company	Ltd	T/A	Boral	Timber
Allied	Timber	Products	Pty	Ltd
Associated	Kiln	Driers	Pty	Ltd	T/A	AKD	

Softwoods
Auspine	Pty	Ltd
Auswest	Timbers	Pty	Ltd
Bayswood	Timber	Wholesalers	Pty	Ltd
Big	River	Timbers	Pty	Ltd
Birnam	Forests	Pty	Ltd
Blueleaf	Corporation	Pty	Ltd	T/A	Whittakers	

Timber	Products
Britton Timbers
Bunbury	Treefarm	Project
Carter	Holt	Harvey	Wood	Products	Australia	

Pty	Ltd
Creed Bros Sawmillers
Department	of	Natural	Resources	&	Water
Dindas	Australia	Pty	Ltd
Environmental Forest Farms Management Ltd
FEA	Timber	Pty	Ltd
Forest	Commission	of	NSW	T/A	Forests	NSW

Forest	Products	Commission	WA
Forest	Strategy	Pty	Ltd
Forestry	SA
Forestry Tasmania 
George	Fethers	&	Co	Trading	Pty	Ltd
Green	Triangle	Forest	Products	Limited
Gunns	Forest	Products	Pty	Ltd
Gunns Limited
Hancock	Victorian	Plantations	Pty	Ltd
Highland	Pine	Products	Pty	Ltd
Holdfast	Timbers	Pty	Ltd	T/A	A	E	Girle	&	Sons
Hurford	Building	Supplies	Pty	Ltd
Hyne	&	Son	Pty	Ltd
ITC Limited
ITC	Timber	Alexandra	Pty	Ltd
ITC	Timber	Heyfield	Pty	Ltd
J	Notaras	&	Sons	Pty	Ltd
J.	Wright	&	Sons	Pty	Ltd
Jarrah	Select	Pty	Ltd
Jelfor	Treated	Timbers	Pty	Ltd
Jetstar	Enterprises	Pty	Ltd	T/A	Permapole
Koppers	Wood	Products
Machins	Sawmill	Pty	Ltd

Midway	Pty	Ltd
Millmerran	Timbers	Pty	Ltd
N	K	Collins	Industries
Penrose	Pine	Products	Pty	Ltd
Pentarch	Forest	Products	Pty	Ltd
Pinetec	Ltd
Ryan	&	McNulty	Pty	Ltd
Sarawood	(Aust)
South-East Fibre Exports
Stora	Enso	Timber	Australia
Swan	Le	Messurier	Pty	Ltd
Tasman	KB	Pty	Ltd
The	Australian	Sawmilling	Company
The Laminex Group
Timbercorp	Forestry	Pty	Ltd
Timberlands	Pacific	Pty	Ltd
VicForests
WA	Chip	&	Pulp	Pty	Ltd	T/A	WA	Pres
Wespine	Industries	Pty	Ltd
Wilton	Logging	Pty	Ltd
Wright	Forest	Products	Pty	Ltd

3 4 5 6

MARKETING AND 

COMMUNICATIONS MANAGER

Ms Sarah Humphrey (3)

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 

PROJECTS OFFICER

Dr Jugo Ilic (4)

FINANCE OFFICER

Ms Kelly Goh (5)

PROGRAM ADMINISTRATOR

Ms Lorraine Reyes (6)
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COLLABORATIVE ACTIVITIES

National Research Priorities

An Environmentally Sustainable Australia
Transforming the way we utilise our land, water, 
mineral and energy resources through a better 
understanding of human and environmental 
systems and the use of new technologies. 

Promoting and Maintaining Good Health
Promoting	good	health	and	well	being	for	all	
Australians.	

Frontier Technologies for Building and 
Transforming Australian Industries
Stimulating	the	growth	of	world-class	Australian	
industries using innovative technologies 
developed from cutting-edge research. 

Safeguarding Australia

Safeguarding	Australia	from	terrorism,	crime,	
invasive diseases and pests; strengthening our 
understanding	of	Australia’s	place	in	the	region	
and the world; and securing our infrastructure, 
particularly with respect to our digital systems.

Rural Research and  
Development Priorities

Productivity and Adding Value
Increasing	the	productivity	and	profitability	of	
existing industries and supporting the development 
of viable new industries.

Supply Chain and Markets
Improving understanding and responses to 
domestic and international market and consumer 
requirements and improving the flow of such 
information through the whole supply chain, 
including to consumers.

Natural Resource Management
Supporting	effective	management	of	Australia’s	
natural resources to ensure primary industries are 
both economically and environmentally sustainable.

Climate Variability and Climate Change
Building resilience to climate variability and adapting 
to and mitigating the effects of climate change.

Biosecurity
Protecting	Australia’s	community,	primary	industries	
and environment from biosecurity threats.

Supporting the Rural Research and 
Development Priorities
Improving the skills to undertake research and 
apply	its	findings.

How we work within the priorities – national and rural 

The	Australian	Government	is	a	major	stakeholder	in	FWPA	R&D	and	technology	transfer	programs	
through	the	provision	of	matching	R&D	funding	under	the	terms	of	the	Statutory	Funding	Agreement.	
FWPA’s	investment	priorities	are	guided	by	and	align	with	the	Australian	Government’s	national	and	
rural research priorities.  

24% 20% 22% 13% 6% 15%

Percentage of total expenditure across Rural R&D Priorities 2009/10

Percentage of R&D expenditure estimates across National Research Priority Goals 2009/10

36% 12% 30% 22%
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Addressing industry R&D needs  
in partnership with the  
Australian Government 

FWPA is one of 15 rural research and development 
corporations and industry services companies 
(RDCs) that represent a unique partnership between 
the Australian Government and the rural industries.  
Levies for R&D investments are collected on a 
range of primary products by the Government 
and are matched on a one-to-one basis by the 
Australian Government under the provisions of the 
Forestry Marketing and Research and Development 
Services Act 2007. The provision of matching 
funding to industry services companies is enabled 
under statutory funding agreements entered into 
between the individual companies and the Australian 
Government.

The RDCs prioritise, commission and manage 
research and foster uptake and adoption of research, 
findings based on the needs and priorities of both 
industry and the Australian Government. The focus 
is on profitably expanding Australia’s rural R&D 
industries and improving industry effectiveness, 
efficiency and sustainability. 

The RDC model allows for a targeted approach 
to R&D fund allocation by industry, where those 
funds are a mixture of government and industry 
contributions. Further, the model encourages 
accountability, allowing levy payers to contribute 
to and benefit from the outcomes of RDC project 
investment strategies.

Through this model, FWPA and its predecessor 
invested $7.6 million over the past eight years to 
improve the testing and genetics of commercial pine 
breeding.The investment, led by FWPA, has been 
made across seven projects and is estimated to 
have returned in excess of $239 million in benefits to 
the industry and the wider community. 

Previous investment in pine breeding research has 
yielded significant productivity gains, so investors 
are confident that this package of projects will be 
the same. A key output has been TREEPLAN an 
analytical software tool that estimates the genetic 
values in trees, thereby improving selection efficiency.  
For Australia’s 985,000 hectare pine plantation 
industry, a profit increase of $489 per hectare in 
Net Present Value is a welcome improvement. The 
project is estimated to yield a return of $26 for each 
R&D dollar invested.

A recent evaluation of the $500 million annual 
rural research and development investment shows 
improvements in productivity, market access and 
supply chain performance delivering an average 
return of $11 for every RDC dollar invested. Through 
the joint efforts of the Australian Government and 
industry, the RDC model is yielding great success.

Joint activities with other 
Research and Development 
Corporations and Industry 
Services Companies

FWPA participates in a range of joint-RDC activities 
under the auspices of the Council of Rural Research 
& Development Corporations Chairs. The Council 
operates to facilitate learning from the collective 
experiences of Research and Development 
Corporations with respect to issues of reporting, 
communication, accountability and implementation 
of Government policy directives. Joint initiatives 
supported during 2008/09 included:

Project title
Joint Venture Agroforestry Program

Participating organisations
FWPA, LWA, RIRDC

As a participant in the Joint Venture Agroforestry 
Program (JVAP), the Corporation attended JVAP 
meetings involving project selection, development 
and performance. 

Project title
National Climate Change Research Strategy for 
Primary Industries 

Participating organisations
AECL, APL, AWI, CRDC, DAIRY AUST, FRDC, 
FWPA, GRDC, GWRDC, HAL, LWA, MLA, RIRDC, 
SRDC, DAFF, DAFWA, NSW DPI, VIC DPI, DPIWE, 
QLD DPI, DRDPIFR, PIRSA, CSIRO, ACAD

Please refer to p84 for a glossary of participating 
organisations
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INDUSTRY PROMOTION1

BUILDING AWARENESS 
THROUGH INTEGRATED  
ACTIVITIES

The	launch	of	the	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	program	
at last year’s annual general meeting was the start of 
a long and evolving journey for the industry. Industry 
support for a generic “wood is good” campaign was 
one	of	the	key	drivers	for	the	establishment	of	FWPA	
and the launch was warmly welcomed by members, 
levy payers and stakeholders.

Historically, the forest and wood products industry 
has been highly segmented and diverse, and the 
generic promotion program is intended to provide a 
unifying theme that can be embraced and leveraged 
by all sectors of the industry. 

Like all generic promotional activities, the program 
has clear commercial outcomes: to increase 

the value of wood-based 
products	sold	in	Australia	by	
raising demand and lowering 
impediments	to	their	use.	A	
secondary objective is to rebuild 
the	industry’s	confidence	in	itself	
and	confirm	its	role	as	a	valuable	
contributor to sustainable and 

productive national economy.

To achieve these objectives there are four broad 
communication goals:

 Use generic promotion to improve community and 
market awareness of, and satisfaction with, forest 
and wood products.

 Engage with the community and markets to 
understand their requirements and attitudes to 
assist in industry decision making and policy 
development.

 Open and maintain dialogue with regulators, 
standards	bodies,	specifiers	and	opinion	leaders	
to maximise the utilisation of wood products.

	 Promote	the	benefits	of	forests	and	wood	
products, especially environmental advantages 
including low embodied energy, carbon storage, 
renewability, reusability/recyclability and evidence 
of sustainability.

The Wood. Naturally Better.™ 
program

As	a	material,	wood	occupies	a	unique	place	in	
Australian	lives	and	markets.	It	is	familiar	to	every	
person of every age. It is ubiquitous, providing form, 
function, fuel, communication and more. Wood is so 
prevalent that, paradoxically, it often goes unnoticed.

Similarly,	the	benefits	of	wood,	which	range	from	
functional and aesthetic to environmental, are 
often not considered when people are making a 
choice that involves a selection of material. From 
an architect specifying a roof frame to an engineer 
recommending a material for a footbridge, from a 
home owner thinking about DIY landscaping to a 
couple	buying	furniture	for	their	first	home	–	all	are	
typical situations in which the advantages of wood 
could make it the preferred choice.

The attribute or attributes of wood that will make 
it	the	first	choice	will	vary.	In	some	cases	it	may	be	
structural performance, in others visual appearance 
or	environmental	benefits.	The	challenge	was	to	find	
a way to remind every potential decision maker of 
the advantages of wood relevant to their situation. 

The	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	brand	was	created	to	
act as a mnemonic – an easily remembered reminder 
of	the	relevant	benefits	of	wood.

“The challenge was to find 
a way to remind every 
potential decision maker 
of the advantages of wood 
relevant to their situation.” 

	The four areas of activity of Wood.  
Naturally Better.™ – consumer, specifier, 
building industry and trade partners.

STRATEGY ONE:

Consumer

Building 
Industry

Specifier

Trade 
Partners
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The	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	program	operates	in	
four main areas. Each plays a role in the process that 
leads to a decision whether to use wood.  

Because they either make the material choice 
themselves or they are the end users who influence 
and	approve	of	the	use	of	wood.	An	added	benefit	is	
that communicating to the broad consumer audience 
also reaches the other three groups.

Includes all those who specify the use of wood in 
building design and construction. This group has the 
potential to have the greatest influence on increasing 
the	market	share	of	wood	products	used	in	Australia.

The building industry is by far the largest purchaser 
and consumer of wood products and consists of 
large and small companies and the carpenters who 
do much of the work.

The	final	group	is	the	timber	industry	itself	which	
can be considered the program’s trade partners.  
Communicating to companies and individuals  
within the sector is important for two reasons.  
The	first	is	that	their	involvement	in,	and	support	 
of,	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	acts	as	an	amplifier,	
raising awareness of the brand and the key 
messages. The second is that it helps achieve  
the	objective	of	rebuilding	the	industry’s	confidence	
in itself.

Together, the four groups provide the program 
with both broad coverage and a focus on the key 
decision makers, especially in the important area 
of structural timbers.

Understanding markets and 
audiences

Effective communications are built on knowledge 
and effective research to ensure that there is a clear 
understanding of audiences and the markets in 
which they operate.

The research is structured around participation 
in annual benchmarking surveys that examine 
consumer attitudes and behaviour, with particular 
reference to awareness of environmental factors  
and their effect on purchasing patterns.

There are two research streams, customer 
information, and messages and tracking.

Research Stream 1: Customer Information

This stream is designed to help us understand what 
people (professional, trade, consumers) think about 
wood and associated issues (e.g. carbon and the 
environment) and how they can be motivated to 
change their behaviour to favour wood. 

This information is used to develop communication 
strategies	that	target	specific	messages	to	 
individual audiences.

Research Stream 2: Messages and tracking

The aim of this stream is to check that the program 
is successfully communicating the primary messages 
and that they are being received and understood by 
target audiences. 

Feedback from this research is used to develop and 
refine	communication	materials.

Key consumer research findings

When asked to compare alternative materials, 
a	majority	of	consumers	rank	wood	first	for	
visual appeal, environmental ‘friendliness’ and 
sustainability/renewability. However, market 
research also shows that many consumers are 
uncomfortable with the harvesting of trees to supply 
wood products. This incongruity is not unique to 
wood products and demonstrates an underlying 
disconnect in people’s minds between the use and 
supply of natural resources.

According	to	independent	researchers,	Mobium	
Group,	about	90-95%	of	consumers	consistently	
say that they have concerns for the environment. 
However,	only	10%	are	actively	modifying	their	
purchase behaviour to reflect this concern.  

Consumers

Specifiers

Building Industry

Trade Partners
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The key barriers to buying more environmentally 
friendly products and services are price, information 
and trust.

The	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	program	is	addressing	
the issue of information through providing a 
growing body of resources designed to inform 
the target markets. The barrier of trust, or the 
veracity of the source of the information, is being 
addressed through strategic partnerships and the 
partner program.

Another	important	finding	is	that	consumers	are	
confused about the connection between trees, 
carbon, carbon storage and climate change. This is 
important, as wood’s role as a carbon store provides 
a competitive edge over alternative materials.

Mobium Group research indicates that three-quarters 
of	Australians	agree	that	they:

“often find environmental issues complex 
and would like clearer information about the 
environmental benefits and impacts of their 
product and service choices.” 

Consumers are seeking credible, simple 
information to make an informed decision about 
the environmental impact of their behaviours and 
consumption choices. This information needs to 
be relevant and understandable, and focus on how 
individuals and their families can use it in their daily 
decision making.

The	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	program	is	designed	
to meet these consumer needs.

Key specifier research findings

The	term	specifiers	is	used	to	describe	all	the	
people responsible for specifying the use of wood in 
design and construction. They include: architects, 
building designers, engineers, developers, builders 
and owners.

Research	has	shown	that	they	share	traits	with	the	
broader consumer market. The environment is of 
increasing interest, however, there is confusion about 
the concept of sustainability and the role that carbon 
might play in it.

The	most	important	finding	is	that	the	key	
impediment to specifying wood is lack of information. 
Future	activities	in	the	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	
campaign are designed to address this.

Wood. Naturally Better.™ 
Communications

The Consumer Campaign

The consumer communications comprised four 
channels: print advertising, online advertising, 
website and sponsorships.

Research	indicated	that	the	message	most	likely	to	
resonate with the audience was that wood stored 
carbon – and that by choosing wood people could 
help tackle climate change.

Print advertising

The campaign launched in October 2008, with 
advertisements running in national newspapers, 
newspaper insert magazines and magazines. The 
2008 media schedule reached 9,288,000 people 
with an average frequency of 2.6.

Eight versions of the advertisement conveyed the 
message that a wooden object was more than 
it appeared to be – it was also a helping hand in 
tackling climate change owing to the carbon stored 
in the wood.

A	second	media	schedule	ran	from	February	to	
June 2009 using the same materials, but in a wider 
range of sizes to cost-effectively extend the reach. 
An	expanded	range	of	homemaker	magazines	
were included to reach people thinking of building 
or renovating.

The 2009 schedule delivered a total reach of 
10,276,000	people	with	an	average	frequency	 
of	2.95.	Tracking	research	in	May	2009	indicated	a	
growing	awareness	of	the	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	
brand and the campaign.

1
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IT’S NOT JUST

A CHAIR. 
IT’S A HELPING HAND IN 

CLIMATE 
CHANGE.

The wood used in this chair stores approx 4kg carbon.

Using wood 

is naturally better for our environment because it 

helps with climate change in two very important ways. 

 First, growing trees absorb carbon dioxide 

from the atmosphere and store the carbon so 

effi ciently that about half the dry weight of a tree is 

carbon. This carbon remains ‘locked up’ for the whole 

of the life of the wood even when we use it for 

building products or furniture. It is released into 

the atmosphere again only when the wood decays 

or is burnt.

 Second, forestry is one of the most 

greenhouse-friendly sectors of the Australian 

economy. In fact, it was the only industry sector 

to be carbon positive in 2005. So increased use 

of wood in construction will assist Australia 

in offsetting its overall greenhouse 

gas emissions.

 What’s more, wood is a truly 

renewable resource because millions 

of new trees are planted each year 

and Australia has a well-established framework 

to support the conservation and sustainable 

management of our forests.

 So when we choose carbon positive wood 

for house frames, fl ooring, or furniture we’re also 

lending a helping hand in climate change. To fi nd 

out more visit us at www.naturallybetter.com.au

FWP0004

U

            BECAUSE IT’S 
MADE FROM WOOD. 

Online advertising

The concept used in the print campaign was 
modified	and	extended	to	make	it	suitable	for	online	
use. The online campaign supported the 2009 print 
campaign and appeared on a wide range of web 
sites,	both	general	and	home	maker	specific.

Tracking indicated that between 1 February and 14 
April,	2,718,920	unique	users	viewed	the	campaign	
message	an	average	of	3.02	times.	8,960,477	
impressions	were	delivered,	driving	5,355	clicks	
through	at	a	rate	of	0.06%.	Cost	was	the	equivalent	
of	$0.06	per	user,	which	is	considered	to	be	an	
excellent result.

www.naturallybetter.com.au

The role of the website is to provide support to 
the program partners, validate the propositions 
made in the advertising and direct knowledge-
seekers to appropriate industry sites for more 
detailed information.

The site was launched in October 2008, refreshed 
in January 2009 and receives a steady stream of 
traffic.	The	Ask	An	Expert	section	provides	answers	
to wood-related questions from visitors and is an 
interesting indication of the sort of information people 
are seeking.

The site also contains an online store through which 
branded promotional materials are distributed.

	Example of a print ad that 
was modified for use online.

WHY IS THIS FRAMING A HELPING HAND IN

CLIMATE CHANGE?
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Sponsorships: National Carpenters Day

Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	initiated	and	sponsored	
the	inaugural	National	Carpenters	Day	with	events	in	
each	state	capital	on	Tuesday	21	April,	2009.

National	Carpenters	Day	was	created	to	provide	
a	high-profile	public	campaign	which	would	focus	
attention	on	the	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	key	
messages	and	promote	the	benefits	of	using	wood.

The secondary purpose of the day was to enable 
Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	to	initiate	relationships	with	
carpenters, primary users of wood, and the wider 
building and construction industries.

Communication channels included: live events, 
direct	mail	to	carpentry	businesses	around	Australia,	
contact with timber merchants, hardware suppliers, 
construction	companies,	TAFE	colleges	and	 
Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	program	partners.

The	National	Carpenter	of	the	Year	Award	was	
launched	on	National	Carpenters	Day	and	was	
developed	to	extend	the	campaign	once	National	
Carpenters Day was over and to provide a 
mechanism to promote positive wood messages to 
people in rural and regional areas.

National	Carpenters	Day	was	an	outstanding	
success, generating more than 100 media articles 
on television, radio, in print and on line. The media 
coverage, which reached an estimated audience of 
more	than	four	million	people,	provided	a	significant	
payback on the investment.

	(Top) Ambassador 
Tom Williams 
(far right) at the 
Sydney event.

	 (Above) Julian 
Amos, Chairman 
of the Forest 
Industries 
Association of 
Tasmania (second 
from left) with 
carpenters at the 
Tasmanian event.

	UK Architect Andrew Waugh 

will visit Australia in October as 

keynote speaker at each of the 

regional Timber and Design 

Awards.

1

 Waugh Thistleton Architects 

designed and constructed 

Murray Grove, the world’s 

tallest modern wooden 

building in East London, 

pictured at left in construction, 

and at completion.Im
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Industry Engagement

The support of the broader industry is essential 
to	maximise	the	exposure	of	the	Wood.	Naturally	
Better.™	brand	and	build	awareness	of	the	
advantages of wood. To this end, a comprehensive 
calendar of stakeholder engagements has been 
undertaken to encourage industry participation in 
the program.

Typical	of	these	was	addressing	a	recent	WADIC	
(Window	And	Door	Industry	Council	Inc)	forum	in	
Sydney	and	explaining	the	program’s	benefits	to	
attendees. Communicating with industry is intended 
to build membership of the partner program and 
ensure consistency in how the industry promotes the 
environmental	benefits	of	wood.

The Specifier Campaign

Having	identified	the	main	impediment	to	the	use	
of wood and wood products as lack of knowledge, 
a	specifier	marketing	plan	has	been	developed	to	
improve	the	product	knowledge	and	confidence	of	
this important group of influencers. 

The plan addresses four groups of target market 
specifiers	within	the	building	industry:	architects	
(including architects, interior designers and 
landscape designers), engineers (including structural 
engineers), building designers (including building 
designers and drafting services) and building 
professionals (including quantity surveyors, building 
surveyors and building sustainability assessors).

Communications	to	these	specifiers	will	address	
the major types of building construction: residential 
housing (stand-alone houses), multi-residential 
dwellings,	commercial	buildings	(low-rise	office	
and	commercial	buildings),	and	public	buildings	&	
infrastructure (government and institutional buildings, 
public structures, bridges and infrastructure).

The	role	of	specifier	communications	will	be	to	
educate, inform and inspire these professionals to 
specify wood and wood products. The timeframe of 
a program like this is longer than a typical consumer 
campaign, however some exciting initiatives will be 
announced during 2009/10.

	Tom Casey –  
winner of the first 
National Carpenter of 
the Year Award

Specifier sponsorships:  
Australian Timber Design Awards

The	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	program	has	become	
the	major	sponsor	of	the	2009	Australian	Timber	
Design	Awards,	which	recognise	excellence	in	the	
use of timber. 

The awards, to be held in October 2009, now 
include four regional events, with the regional winners 
automatically competing for the national awards. The 
regions	are:	western	(Western	Australia	and	South	
Australia),	southern	(Victoria	and	Tasmania),	eastern	
(New	South	Wales	and	Australian	Capital	Territory)	
and	northern	(Queensland	and	Northern	Territory).

The keynote speaker at each regional awards 
night	will	be	Andrew	Waugh,	a	Director	of	Waugh	
Thistleton	Architects	and	the	principal	architect	
behind Murray Grove, an award-winning nine-storey 
timber residential building in London’s Hackney.

Sponsorship	of	the	Australian	Timber	Design	Awards	
is	a	cost-effective	opportunity	for	Wood.	Naturally	
Better.™	to	raise	awareness	of	the	advantages	of	
wood	among	both	key	specifier	audiences	and	
interested members of the public.
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Strategic Partnerships

Partnering	with	like-minded	and	relevant	
organisations	is	a	strategy	that	delivers	benefits	to	
both	parties.	Through	the	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	
program two separate strategic partnerships have 
been	established:	one	with	Planet	Ark,	the	other	
with	Archicentre.

Planet	Ark	is	a	not-for-profit	organisation	that	aims	 
to show people and businesses how they can 
reduce their day-to-day impact on the environment. 
Planet	Ark’s	campaigns	address	environmental	
issues in a practical and straightforward way, 
reaching the public through the media, educational 
resources and partnerships.

One of their achievements has been the planting of 
13 million native plants by 2 million volunteers for 
National	Tree	Day.

FWPA	is	currently	working	with	Planet	Ark	to	identify	
opportunities to communicate the environmental 
advantages of wood to a broad audience.

Archicentre	is	the	building	advisory	service	of	the	
Australian	Institute	of	Architects	and	has	more	than	
900	architect	members	Australia-wide.	

Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	activities	with	Archicentre	
include a segment in renovation information 
seminars, delivered to hundreds of intending 
renovators	around	Australia	and	sponsorship	of	a	
home design service, using timber where applicable, 
for	Victorian	bushfire	victims.

“The Wood. Naturally Better.™ 
program is helping unify  
our industry.”

“As an industry we’ve always been fragmented 
and because we’re generally science-based 
people, we haven’t been very good at 
communicating to the public either. So we 
haven’t told the positive story about forestry 
and wood very well. 

“Wood. Naturally Better.™ is doing an excellent 
job of joining the dots between trees, carbon, 
climate change and wood in a way that 
people can understand. It’s also helping unite 
our industry, I’m seeing the logo used by an 
increasing number of companies. We currently 
have the Wood. Naturally Better.™ logo on our 
stationery and I can see us promoting the brand 
and using the promotional materials more as 
we develop our own communications.”

Cameron MacDonald
Director,	Strategy	and	Corporate	Affairs,	 
Vic Forests

“It’s a great campaign that’s 
building awareness of the 
timber industry.”

“We’re an industry organisation that provides 
a range of services to our members. We see 
Wood. Naturally Better.™ as something that 
can help our members and build awareness 
of the timber industry and the advantages of 
wood. I think it’s important that we get the 
message through to people who use timber, 
builders, as well as consumers.

We’re increasingly using the Wood. Naturally 
Better.™ logo on our communications, right 
down to our website and emails. We’re also 
urging all our members to become licensees 
and join the program. The more we can get the 
Wood. Naturally Better.™ brand out there, the 
better it will be for everyone in our industry.”

Colin Fitzpatrick
Chief	Executive	Officer,	Timber	&	Building	
Materials	Association	(NSW)	Ltd

1
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The Wood. Naturally Better.™  
Partner Program

As	previously	stated,	the	aim	of	the	Wood.	
Naturally	Better.™	brand	is	to	remind	people	of	the	
relevant advantages of wood to encourage them 
to specify, purchase or otherwise choose it over 
competing materials.

The more recognition the brand can develop, and 
the more places it appears and is seen, the more 
effective it will be.

The	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	partner	program	
has been developed to enable companies and 
organisations in the forest and wood products 
industry	to	use	the	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	brand,	
under licence.

The	benefits	of	this	are	twofold:	it	spreads	the	use	of	
the logo and therefore increases awareness of the 
brand and it also promotes the products or services 
of the program partner.

The program has been well accepted with more than 
300	partners	licensed	by	July	2009.	Partners	range	
from large forestry-based organisations and industry 
associations to manufacturers and importers.

In addition to use of the logo, partners also gain 
access to complimentary and low-cost promotional 
items designed to help them market both their 
businesses	and	Wood.	Naturally	Better.™	More	
details can be found at www.naturallybetter.com.au

Industry Information

An	important	part	of	promoting	the	advantages	
of wood is ensuring that people who work in the 
industry	have	facts	and	figures	at	their	finger	tips	to	
refute common misconceptions about the industry.

Two information booklets have been produced to 
address	this	need.	Double-sided	A3-sized	pages,	
folding	down	to	a	handy	pocket	size,	the	first	covers	
carbon forestry and sustainability while the second 
includes	certification,	exports	and	employment.

The booklets were distributed glued to the covers of 
industry magazines and are also available through 
the partner program.

www.naturallybetter.com.au

imports, employment,
              & certification

imports, employment,
              & certification

FRONT
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	Archicentre Bushfire 
Rebuild Scheme 
Launched:  
Pictured left to 
right: Ric Sinclair, 
Managing Director, 
FWPA; Cr Len Cox, 
Mayor, Shire of 
Yarra Ranges; David 
Stirling; Darren 
Nixon, Business 
Development 
Manager, James 
Hardie; Leanne 
Stirling; Terrence 
Nott, Architect; 
Robert Caulfield, 
Managing Director, 
Archicentre and 
Kirstie Marshall MP, 
Member for  
Forest Hill.
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RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT2
STRATEGY TWO:

Overview

FWPA’s	research	and	development	(R&D)	program	is	
aligned with its vision – to be the industry’s leading 
source of knowledge and investor in innovation and 
promotion – and mission – to increase the industry’s 
sustainability and international competitiveness.

A	cornerstone	of	FWPA’s	R&D	strategy	is	delivering	
relevant and useful outcomes from research to 
industry	through	investment	in	R&D	projects.

The	R&D	projects	span	the	value	chain	from	resource	
management of plantations through projects like the 
use of satellite technology to assess plant nutrition 
levels, to timber processing issues like assessing 
the	application	of	vacuum	drying	to	Australian	
hardwoods and through to end market issues such 
as maximising timber floor performance through best 
practice installation.

FWPA	is	also	conscious	of	industry’s	responsibilities	
to the broader rural community and invests in 
projects evaluating our environmental impact such 
as measuring water use by plantations in the green 
triangle.	Read	more	about	these	important	projects	
in	the	R&D	highlights	starting	on	page	32.

During	the	past	year,	FWPA	has	satisfied	its	statutory	
funding requirements and commissioned, continued 
and	finalised	a	range	of	research	projects.	The	
process of identifying investment priorities as outlined 
in	the	5-year	Strategic	Plan	has	been	established	
and the results will be reflected in the choice of  
future projects.

R&D	investments	made	by	FWPA	promote	
internationally competitive and environmentally 
sustainable practices, increase employment 
opportunities	and	contribute	to	Australia’s	growing	
reputation as an innovative producer of high-quality 
forest and wood products.

R&D process

Investment strategy 

Strategy	2	of	the	Strategic	Plan	2009-13	calls	for	
FWPA	to:

Invest in and co-ordinate R&D to improve the 
industry’s competitiveness, inform its climate 
change response, enhance investment, 
increase usage and ensure the sustainability of 
forests, wood products and services.

After	identifying	the	desired	benefits	and	outcomes,	
FWPA	has	derived	seven	priority	themes	for	its	
R&D	investments:

1 Evaluate market trends nationally and 
internationally to enable industry to develop 
business and industry development strategies. 

2 Maintain and expand markets for wood products, 
and the new products and services required to 
meet these markets.

3 Develop knowledge and technology to improve 
existing production and utilisation processes.

4 Characterise the properties and variability of wood 
resources and maximise value recovery.

5 Enable genetic improvement and the 
management of biotic or abiotic risk factors.

6 Develop systems and technologies to maintain or 
improve	productivity	and	utilise	water	efficiently.

7 Evaluate strategies for forest management 
under climate change and maximise greenhouse 
advantages of forest products.

Because these themes are relatively broad, the 
FWPA	prioritises	projects	within	each	theme	
according to factors such as resource requirements 
to achieve the best outcomes for members and 
other stakeholders.

The	priority	themes	and	the	subsequent	R&D	plans,	
such as those that measure and improve technology 
and identify how wood will perform over time, are 
planned to reduce risk. Through investment priorities, 
FWPA	links	industry	requirements	to	research	needs	
and resources. 
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Planning

FWPA	has	developed	a	rigorous	planning	
methodology	to	identify	R&D	investments,	whether	
they be individual projects or groups of projects. 

The methodology consists of four steps:  
investment priorities, ranking	&	resource allocation, 
investment planning and ongoing review.

The process is designed to be simple but effective, 
so that outcomes will be visible and meet the needs 
of the industry and other stakeholders. 

As	investment	priorities	are	determined,	they	are	
linked to outcomes and then ranked so that funding 
can be allocated accordingly. There may be a simple 
set of proposed projects required to deliver the 
outcomes	identified	in	the	investment	priorities,	or	a	
more complex program that requires an investment 
plan to direct the investment which is subject to 
Board approval. 

Regular	reviews	of	the	implementation	of	investment	
priorities and plans creates a link to the periodic 
review	of	the	5-year	Strategic	Plan.	

Corporate governance is paramount when 
considering investments and the needs of 
stakeholders	and	the	industry.	Through	the	R&D	
Board committee, the Board is involved in these 
decisions, receiving advice from the advisory groups 
on ranking the investment priorities and the merits 
of individual investments. 

Drivers

Projects Output Outcome

Strategies

Priority themes

Investment priorities

Review
Operational 

review

Strategic review

Investment plan(s)
(if required)

Ranking & resource 
allocation

Inputs:
Industry Advisory Groups

National R&D priorities
Ministerial direction

Other

Desired outcomes
(benefits)

5-year 
Strategic 

Plan

Planning methodology
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Supplier Profile:  
Associate Professor Greg Nolan

Associate	Professor	Greg	Nolan	is	the	Director	of	the	
Centre	for	Sustainable	Architecture	with	Wood	(CSAW)	
at the University of Tasmania. The multidisciplinary 
Centre aims to foster the use of timber as a building 
material	that	is	efficient,	economic,	environmentally	
sustainable and socially responsible.

CSAW	projects	fall	into	two	broad	activity	areas:	
recovering solid wood products from the log and using 
the recovered timber in building. 

Once produced, most timber is used in construction, 
so	one	of	CSAW’s	key	projects	is	understanding	
and improving the thermal performance of light-
weight	timber	in	building.	In	2003,	the	first	thermal	
performance	requirements	were	included	in	Australian	
building regulations. They have become more 
stringent since then and recently Federal and State 
governments agreed to raise the bar to 6 Star. 

CSAW	worked	with	industry	to	develop	a	program	of	
testing that included validating the national regulatory 
benchmark	house	energy	rating	software	AccuRate,	
and	building	expertise.	As	developers	of	the	AccuRate	
software,	CSIRO	Sustainable	Ecosystems	has	been	
regularly involved in the project’s development. 

In	addition	to	this	work,	CSAW	and	the	School	of	
Architecture	teaches	design	with	timber	to	their	
architecture, interior design and furniture students. 
CSAW	ran	the	Australian	Timber	Design	Workshops	
that	were	held	around	Australia	in	June	and	July	
2008.	Plans	for	further	teaching	about	wood	are	being	
developed.

	Furniture 
extension to the 
University of 
Tasmania’s School 
of Architecture at 
Inveresk – Corner 
of the building 
before cladding.
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Setting investment priorities

The process of setting investment priorities was 
initiated in response to the Board’s desire to extend 
FWPA	investments	across	the	value	chain	to	ensure	
that resources were directed to produce outcomes in 
the right areas and respond to industry needs. 

R&D	investment	priorities	are	chosen	because	they	
provide	quantifiable	benefits	for	industry.	A	core	
premise	of	the	R&D	program	is	that	it	helps	the	
industry to increase the market share and value of 
its products, while improving the sustainability and 
economic contribution of the sector to the overall 
Australian	community.

The investment approval process

The approval process for research investment 
is designed to identify a direct link between the 
research results and industry requirements.

The Board has established three levels of investment 
approval:	by	the	Managing	Director,	the	R&D	Board	
committee or the full Board. This combination, 
guided by the advisory groups, enables appropriate 
and	efficient	investment	approval.	Substantial,	
complex and long-term projects or investment plans 
must be individually approved by the Board.

The advisory groups help identify the priorities for 
research investment topics, and detailed investment 
priorities are the subject of discussion and 
deliberation by the groups, so that, for example, the 
Sustainability	and	Resources	Advisory	Group	(SRAG)	
has	developed	an	Investment	(Research)	Priority	
Statement that helped inform the Board’s investment 
priorities.	See	profile,	p28

Developing investment proposals

Researchers	develop	and	submit	proposals	that	
include	quantifiable	industry	benefits.	This	process	
ensures that knowledge, in its own right, is not 
the purpose of the research, but rather that the 
proposed	outcomes	deliver	benefits	of	value	to	the	
industry.

The appropriate advisory group assesses the 
proposal (where necessary, this may involve multiple 
advisory	groups)	and	advises	FWPA	management,	
which commissions an external peer review to 
assess	the	proposal	and	its	methodology.	Proposals	
are then referred to the appropriate level for approval.

The complexity of a project is usually reflected in its 
duration and cost. Together, these factors determine 
whether	the	Managing	Director,	the	R&D	Investment	
Committee or the Board provides project approval.

For	projects	with	multiple	investors	or	where	FWPA	
has a large investment, a steering committee of 
stakeholders in the research proposal is created 
to monitor the researchers’ progress and ensure 
the	proposed	industry	benefits	remain	visible.	A	
complete	list	of	active	R&D	projects	is	available	in	the	
Appendix	p75.

Thirteen investment priorities

Thirteen investment priorities, reflecting the interests 
of	the	FWPA	members	across	the	value	chain,	have	
been	developed	to	ensure	R&D	results	will	either	
increase productivity, improve the value chain or 
reduce risk. Other needs, outside the 13 priorities, 
may arise and will be considered on a case-by-
case basis. 

Defining	the	investment	priorities	ensures	the	
research community is aligned to the same issues 
and outcomes as industry.

The priorities list illustrates the connection between 
the segments of the industry as they are categorised 
according to where they sit in the value chain, 
moving from the market through processing back  
to the resource. 

1 Information, analysis and interpretation 
of domestic and export markets

This knowledge allows industry to provide 
products that anticipate and satisfy market needs. 
Activities	include	detecting	and	monitoring	trends	
and	purchasing	behaviour	at	specifier,	trade	and	
consumer levels.

2  Timber construction in residential buildings

Research	is	required	to	assess	the	residential	
design and construction market needs and 
ensures the industry is aware of, and responds to, 
changes in building codes and regulations. This 
knowledge will also help building professionals 
work	more	efficiently	with	timber,	and	industry	
and the supply chain respond better to issues as 
they arise.
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3 Timber construction in commercial and 
industrial buildings

Despite	the	strength	of	the	Australian	market	and	
the	quality	of	Australian	timber	products,	and	
contrary to the emerging international trend, there 
has been limited use of wood as a construction 
material in buildings higher than three storeys. 
Investment in research in this area will lead to the 
knowledge, technology and products to develop 
this relatively untapped market. 

4 Appearance timber products and markets

Reliable	information	on	the	supply	and	demand	
for products such as furniture and flooring 
will ensure that future requirements can be 
anticipated	and	met.	Research	into	maintenance	
and performance, the appearance of woods 
and methods of installation will help the industry 
to build on the increasing awareness of the 
environmental advantages of wood.

5 Wood products in sustainable buildings

Carbon footprints, thermal values and 
environmental considerations are playing a greater 
role in building codes and policies – and creating 
opportunities for wood. This topic has been the 
subject	of	the	initial	FWPA	investment	plan	(see	
side bar). The four-year program is examining, 
for	example,	Life	Cycle	Analysis	for	residential	
construction – completion of a comparison 
of the environmental impacts in embodied 
and operational energy for different types of 
construction.

The investment plan aims to achieve voluntary 
or	regulatory	preferred	specification	of	timber	
products over alternative materials.

6 Development of secondary products and 
markets for them

Improving and increasing the use of the whole 
tree through developing value-added secondary 
products will minimise waste and maximise the 
return	from	each	tree	harvested.	R&D	investments	
in this area are identifying and analysing 
secondary products and their markets.

Promoting wood for 
sustainable building

In	May	2009	the	FWPA	investment	plan	for	wood	as	a	
sustainable building material was completed and  
endorsed by the Board.

The	objective	of	investment	priority	5,	Wood products in 
sustainable buildings, is to increase the market share for 
wood products in residential and commercial construction, 
by	preferential	specification	and	by	influencing	mandatory	
building codes and other regulatory requirements.

The	R&D	activities	under	this	investment	plan	can	be	 
split into the following six areas:

Carbon

Quantification	of	carbon	storage	in	wood.		

Energy Efficiency Regulations

Investigate	ways	to	shift	energy	efficiency	regulations	from	
a focus on operational energy impact to the embodied 
energy in building materials such as wood.

Life Cycle Assessment (LCA)

LCA	assesses	a	product’s	full	environmental	cost,	from	
the	harvesting	of	raw	materials	to	final	disposal.	LCA	
is emerging as a global standard for environmental 
measurement	and	could	demonstrate	a	significant	
advantage for wood products with a move away from 
operational energy measures.

Certification

Independent	certification	is	needed	in	order	to	gain	the	
right to operate in the marketplace of sustainability.

Eco-Marketing

Awareness	and	ratings	of	the	environmental	performance	
and sustainability of materials is becoming increasingly 
important	in	specification	for	the	building	industry.

Industry Action

Appropriate	action	by	industry	will	accelerate	and	enhance	
the recognition of wood as a sustainable building material.

Projects	will	still	be	advertised	for	competitive	bidding	by	
the research community to ensure value for money and to 
facilitate	industry	engagement.	Where	possible	FWPA	limits	
investments	in	R&D	projects	to	a	maximum	of	50%	of	the	
total cost so that industry stakeholders will demonstrate 
their own commitment and support for the project plan 
through the contribution of in-kind resources.

INVESTMENT PRIORITIES cont.
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7 Solid wood, engineered wood and pulp and 
paper products: Performance and yield

Recognising	and	responding	to	market	needs	
enables the forest and wood products industry to 
design	efficient	systems	and	maximise	production	
of appropriate products.

This supports the wood industry’s aim to create 
a better product by optimising production 
systems for energy use, drying, cutting, grading 
and sorting of wood. Developing quality control 
systems will give the end user a more consistent 
product, particularly for structural applications. 

For example, improved measuring and grading for 
strength and elasticity, and more accurate display 
of these qualities encourages broader use of 
wood and increased market acceptance. 

8 Maximising product yields and values from 
current resources

Increasing the yield of commercial products 
from	each	tree	will	increase	profitability	and	
reduce	waste.	Research	into	the	characteristics,	
properties and variability of wood resources 
and identifying the most commercially viable 
applications and products realises maximum 
value and reduces unnecessary processing. 

Practices	such	as	non-destructive	testing	to	
screen logs before processing, and segregation 
techniques at the mill gate can help maximise 
yields.

9 Improving wood quality and yield, and tools 
for forest management

Forest managers need to optimise their forest 
management systems to make logs that 
processors	value.	Increasing	the	efficiency	of	
inputs such as fertiliser and pesticides adds value 
to the industry. Improved management of forests 
– spacing, pruning and species choice – leads to 
better products and increased volume. Breeding 
and management can increase yield and thus the 
financial	return	to	growers.	

Developing tools to measure or more accurately 
predict the quality and volume of standing forest 
reduces risk, and increases the usefulness and 
value of the product.

10 Genetic improvement and delivery for 
increased wood yield and quality and for 
managing risks

Planting	is	the	first	opportunity	to	control	the	
quality and volume of commercial timber. This 
investment priority focuses on genetic-based 
tree	breeding	which	can	significantly	reduce	the	
time it takes to improve a strain. Better selection 
techniques such as cross-breeding, screening, 
breeding programs for desirable traits and to 
improve	fitness	in	the	environment	have	lowered	
the time required to improve a planting. 

R&D	will	also	investigate	how	new	strains	are	
deployed in plantations, as seedlings or seeds, 
faster generation of planting stock and a choice 
of clonal or progeny reproduction combine 
to produce the improved products sooner, 
reducing risk for growers. 

11 Water use efficiency, access to resources 
and balanced policy outcomes

Increased awareness of climate trends and 
projections are resulting in industry requiring 
more information about water. Ensuring that 
water policy is informed by science maximises 
the volume of wood produced by a given volume 
of water. Data on how the industry sources and 
uses water for silviculture will generate value 
throughout the chain and increase awareness 
of environmental impacts. It will also identify 
opportunities	for	efficiencies	in	site	selection	
and silviculture.
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12 Forest biosecurity and preparedness

Increased international trade and production 
resources concentrated into discrete regions 
will	increase	risk.	Risk	can	be	reduced	by	an	
awareness of the immediate environment and its 
own risks, and the available controls, including 
biological	controls.	Developing	risk	profiles	of	
pests and forest diseases will lead to informed 
risk management strategies. Developing 
responses to prioritised risks will ensure the best 
outcome for industry and the environment. 

Pest	and	disease	outbreaks	affect	both	
commercial forests and public reserves so the 
application of the outcomes to multiple-use 
forest	landscapes	is	an	additional	benefit	of	this	
priority program. 

13 Mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate 
change and the management of the carbon 
cycle in plantation and native forests

Assessing	the	impact	of	climate	change	on	
plantation productivity will increase understanding 
of the non-commercial values of carbon in 
plantation and native forests, and help industry 
make its long-term planning decisions. 
Measuring the carbon in forests and increasing 
the understanding of the carbon cycle can help 
industry adapt to, and plan for, the forecast 
climate changes. Combining the data with 
economic modelling, and using it to generate 
maps of the effects of climate on growing 
conditions for established forests, will give the 
industry information that it needs to prepare for 
and manage any change.

Sustainability and Resources 
Advisory Group

The	Sustainability	and	Resources	Advisory	Group	(SRAG)	
advises	FWPA	on	R&D	priorities	and	research	proposals	
for management of native and plantation forests, and 
industry response and adaptation of process and systems 
to climate change.

The	Group	also	provides	advice	and	feedback	to	FWPA	
on	research	proposals	in	these	areas.	R&D	proposals	
include tree breeding and genetic improvement, 
silviculture, wood properties, water use, forest operations 
and pest management. The Group’s advice and feedback 
assists in the selection and prioritisation of projects that 
 are best structured to deliver key outcomes and 
measurable	industry	benefits.

During	the	past	year,	the	SRAG	initiated	and	undertook	
a	process	to	outline	the	key	R&D	priorities	and	research	
needs	to	guide	FWPA	investments	in	this	area	over	the	
next	4-5	year	period.	Through	a	series	of	workshops	
and presentations by leading researchers the Group 
developed a program outline containing eight key areas 
for	future	research	investment	by	FWPA.

The	FWPA	Board	then	convened	a	working	group	to	
extend this process to the entire industry value chain, 
developing	the	13	FWPA	R&D	investment	priorities	as	
outlined	on	pages	25-28.	

The	SRAG	meets	3-4	times	each	year	to	review	research	
proposals and discuss emerging industry needs.

	A meeting of the Sustainability and Resources  
Advisory Group.

INVESTMENT PRIORITIES cont.
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The results indicate that the effect of climate change, 
particularly for productivity, is likely to depend on 
local factors. In some regions that may become 
hotter and drier, productivity will fall while in others 
it may rise if plantation species maintain increased 
photosynthetic rates made possible by higher 
CO2 levels. 

At	the	forest	estate	scale,	scenario	analysis	
showed that greater uncertainty will surround 
future management decisions for many plantation 
areas. Operational adaptation, however, may be 
cost-effective	and	beneficial	regardless	of	climate	
outcomes,	according	to	Western	Australian	
experience with balancing the trade-off between 
drought risk and production, and analysis of volume 
response to stocking and matching water stress and 
harvesting costs. Fertiliser management, planting 
density and thinning remain powerful silvicultural 
tools to reduce drought risk in plantations.

Emerging research on second and subsequent 
rotation soil water stores and recharge in the 
inter-rotation period under seedling and coppice 
regeneration will be important for future management 
under more drought-prone conditions.

It is expected that estate planners will use these 
maps to assist in planning for the future both 
by region and species mix to adapt to forecast 
weather patterns.

The report is available at www.fwpa.com.au,  
search	for	Project	No.	PNC068–0708.

Charting the gains, losses and 
risks from climate change

During	the	year,	Australia’s	first	detailed	simulation	
modelling of the possible consequences of climate 
change on forest industries was completed. The 
CSIRO	project	estimated	the	potential	effects	
of climate change on the national plantation 
estate including potential changes to pest and 
fire	behaviour,	and	indicated	the	extent	to	which	
management and estate design strategies might 
counter unwanted consequences.

The	Intergovernmental	Panel	on	Climate	Change	
used recognised models to forecast responses to 
climate change and its impacts. 

Tree	plantation	rotations	typically	take	25-30	years,	
so planning decisions made now take the industry 
far enough into the future for outcomes to be 
influenced by climate change, which according to 
scientific	consensus	is	under	way.

The research team noted that there are many 
possible	future	scenarios,	and	it’s	difficult	to	be	
precise about the distant future. Many assumptions 
must be made to study climate futures beyond 2030. 
As	understanding	improves,	factors	will	be	clarified	
and	uncertainty	reduced.	Risk	management	will	
become more important as an adaptation strategy.

For the study, the researchers used scenario analysis 
to calculate the direct effects of climate change on 
plantation production and risk through changes in 
temperature, soil water and higher CO2. The team 
ran more than one million simulations. 
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	Climate change forecasts from a CSIRO model:  
predictions of productivity

 One of hundreds of maps created in the project. 
Productivity	in	areas	shaded	green	is	unlikely	to	fall	
under	climate	change	forecasts	from	the	CSIRO	model.	
Orange areas are almost certain to show some decline. 
Yellow areas are predicted to remain more or less the 
same. It is important to note that mortality from drought, 
fires	and	pests	is	not	considered.	Closer	hatching	lines	
indicate greater uncertainty.

Range in percentage 
change between all 
combinations of soil types 
and photosynthetic models 

Percentage change from  
1990 to 2030 averaged across 
combinations of soil types and 
photosynthetic models
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Industry Advisory Groups  
and their role

The	role	of	the	four	Industry	Advisory	Groups	–	
Market	Access	and	Development,	Solid	Wood	
Processing	and	Products,	Engineered	Wood	
Products,	and	Sustainability	and	Resources	–	is	to	
help	identify	appropriate	industry-focused	R&D	
priorities and projects. 

The four groups have evolved from those established 
by	the	Forest	and	Wood	Products	Research	and	
Development	Corporation	(FWPRDC)	to	work	with	
industry	in	the	selection	of	R&D	projects	and	the	
subsequent	implementation	of	the	findings.	

Owing to the expansion of industry membership with 
the	formation	of	FWPA	in	2008,	the	four	advisory	
groups were realigned to cover the whole value 
chain.	Under	the	FWPRDC,	the	advisory	groups	
were sector (hardwood and softwood) based.

FWPA	also	restructured	the	composition	and	
scope of the advisory groups so they have varied 
membership with relevant expertise. 

During	the	year,	the	FWPA	surveyed	the	advisory	
group	participants	and	considered	their	findings.	
This	process	identified	that,	overall,	the	members	
were	quite	satisfied	with	the	structure	and	
management of the advisory groups, however, there 
was a desire to have clear terms of reference and 
agreed measures of success.

Consequently,	FWPA	has	been	working	with	the	
advisory groups to ensure that their members, 
their role and their recommendations support the 
industry	and	deliver	the	desired	outcomes.	FWPA	
aims to make sure that the direct connection, and 
therefore the synergies, between research and 
development, and the investments that are chosen 
and the priorities given to them, are recognised 
and maintained, and deliver the best results for 
all stakeholders.

Industry Advisory 
Groups survey

FWPA’s	four	Industry	Advisory	Groups	(IAGs),	
were	set	up	under	the	FWPRDC.	The	IAGs	
were established to engage better with 
industry	on	the	selection	of	R&D	projects	and	
subsequent	adoption	of	R&D	findings.

With	the	formation	of	FWPA,	the	composition	
and	scope	of	the	IAGs	were	realigned.	
Membership	is	drawn	from	FWPA	members,	
levy payers and other interested parties. 
During the past year all current and some 
past	participants	in	the	IAGs	were	invited	to	
participate in an online opinion survey. Thirty-
two people responded from a total pool of 41.

The research indicated that participants see 
the	IAG	structure	as	working	well,	although	
there was room for improvement.

In terms of the key purpose of the groups, 
there is close agreement that the role of 
the	IAG	is	‘to	help	management	identify	
appropriate	R&D	priorities	and	projects’.	
However, the role of the groups in other 
activities, especially dissemination of research 
findings,	was	not	universally	accepted.	

As	a	result	of	the	detailed	findings,	the	
following issues are being considered:

	 Key	performance	indicators	for	the	IAGs	
and their position holders.

	 Terms	of	reference	to	include	more	specific	
tasks, including dissemination of results.

	 A	clear	and	transparent	recruitment	
process	for	IAG	members.

	 Replacement	of	individual	IAG	members	
after an agreed period of time.

 Greater participation by company 
members.

 Members being the lead proponents 
for	R&D	projects	and	potential	conflicts	
of interest.

	 Promotion	of	the	role	of	the	IAG	system	to	
the broader industry.
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SOLID WOOD 

PRODUCTS AND 

PROCESSING 

ADVISORY GROUP

Peter Zed  
Independent Chair

Steve Webster 
Secretary

Max Evans 
Gunns

Kim Harris 
CHH

Trevor Innes 
FEA

Andy McNaught 
Independent

Damien Simpson 
TASCO

Vince Hurley 
ITC Timber

Peter Robson 
Boral

Sadanandan Nambiar 
Independent

Geoff Stringer 
Hyne	&	Son	

Richard Schaffner 
Wespine

Nick Livanes 
FTMA

SUSTAINABILITY 

AND RESOURCES 

ADVISORY GROUP

Sadanandan Nambiar  
CSIRO 
Chair

Mike Connell  
Secretary

John Hickey 
Forestry Tasmania

Ross Dickson 
Forests	NSW

Ian Ravenwood 
Gunns

Tony Canon 
Forest Enterprises 
Australia

Justine Edwards 
Great Southern Group

Jim O’Hehir 
Forestry	SA

Andrew Moore 
Green Triangle Forest 
Products

Stephen Elms 
HVP	Plantations

Ian Last 
Forest	Plantations	
Queensland

ENGINEERED 

WOOD PRODUCTS 

ADVISORY GROUP

Nick Roberts 
Forests	NSW 
Chair

Chris Lafferty 
Secretary 

Allan Halligan  
Independent

John Muller  
GLTAA

Peter Law  
Wesbeam

Craig Kay 
Tillings Timber

Ian McDonald  
Australian	Wood	Panels

Peter Robinson  
Boral

Simon Dorries  
EWPAA

Wolfgang Stahl  
Laminex

Advisory Group members

MARKET ACCESS  

AND DEVELOPMENT  

ADVISORY GROUP 

Ron Adams  
Wespine 
Chair

Barry La Fontaine 
Secretary

Alastair Woodard 
TPC	Solutions

Andrew Dunn 
TDA-NSW

Gary Kiddle 
Wespine

Ian Ferguson 
Independent

John Simon 
Hudson’s Hardware

Peter Juniper 
A3P

Robert Cairns 
Tasman KB

Rod McInnes 
Timber Queensland

Gerry Gardiner 
Queensland  
Timber Importers

David Marlay 
Hyne	&	Son

Christine Briggs 
Gunns
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RESEARCH HIGHLIGHTS

Vacuum drying of refractory Australian 
hardwood commercial species

The	Denis	Cullity	Research	Fellowship	is	awarded	
annually	to	Australian	forest	or	forest	products	
scientists to undertake or participate in research 
and development overseas that has the potential to 
benefit	the	Australian	industry.	

One	of	the	2008	Fellowship	recipients,	Adam	
Redman,	is	the	Chairman	of	the	Australasian	Timber	
Drying Group and a forestry research scientist for 
DPI&F	Queensland	focused	on	seasoning	and	drying	
Australian	hardwoods	and	softwoods.

The	aim	of	Adam’s	fellowship	study,	at	
AgroParisTech	–	ENGREF	in	France,	was	to	gain	
a better understanding of the wood properties 
that explain the drying behaviour of the main 
commercial	Australian	hardwoods,	leading	to	the	
future development of a vacuum drying model for 
these species. The research gathered intrinsic wood 
property and transverse anatomy data using state of 
the art equipment such as: 

 ESEM (environmental scanning electron 
microscope) scans and image analysis of each 
species to characterise cell morphology 

	 DMA	(dynamic	mechanical	analysis)	to	investigate	
viscoelastic behaviour of each species in 
tangential and radial directions

 wood-water relationship measurements on micro 
samples using highly sensitive microbalance and 
laser technology to measure accurately the loss 
of moisture content in conjunction with directional 
shrinkage.

Vacuum drying is an emerging technology in 
Australia,	and	the	research	will	lead	to	a	better	
understanding of the drying process, and contribute 
to the development of a mathematical model to 
optimise drying systems and practice for industry. 

Using infrared technology in the 
field to predict pulp quality

Trials	of	a	field-based	application	of	NIR	(near	infrared	
spectroscopy) in breeding and site evaluations 
across sites and species have successfully predicted 
pulp yields from spectra collected non-destructively 
from Eucalyptus globulus and E. nitens. This project 
was established to take the application from ‘proof-
of-concept’ through to the pre-commercial or pilot 
scale phase. It built on earlier projects which gave  
some	confidence	in	the	technology	by	assessing	the	
prediction of pulp yield and basic density on chip 
conveyor lines, and the potential use of portable 
instruments to predict Kraft pulp yield and basic 
density in standing trees. 

The	project	developed	NIR	calibrations	for	the	
laboratory and a lower-cost hand-held instrument 
to predict pulp yield, basic density and dry matter 
content in standing trees. Several project partners 
are now accessing and applying this technology in 
breeding and site evaluation applications. These will 
give growers a better understanding of the variation 
in their resource and help them make more informed 
decisions about harvest scheduling to meet property 
thresholds, optimal rotation lengths for property/
economic return decisions, site selection and 
silvicultural management, a better understanding of 
the effects of drought on wood properties, and any 
potential trade-off with growth rate.

The main need now is to gain experience and 
confidence	with	the	technology	so	growers	can	
customise applications to meet their own needs. 
The commercial project partners are currently 
exploring ways to adopt the technology in their 
businesses	and	FWPA	are	exploring	opportunities	for	
technology transfer.

See Appendix p80 
Field-based application of NIR as a predictor of  
pulp quality across site and species

	Cantilever head 
with wafer sample.
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Satellite technology to provide 
mapping of foliar nutrition levels 

Image data from the Hyperion hyperspectral satellite 
were used to map the concentration of a range of 
nutrients in Pinus radiata foliage in the Green Triangle 
region	of	South	Australia.	Hyperspectral	image	data	
consists of up to several hundred spectral bands, 
which	enables	features	in	image	pixels	to	be	finely	
discriminated from one another.  

Using	standard	operating	field	data	collection	
methods and the hyperspectral image, this study 
tested how accurately the concentration of a range 
of macro and micronutrients can be modelled 
from space, and whether models developed on T1 
trees	(first	thinned,	about	10-15	years	old)	can	be	
accurately projected to younger or older age classes.  

The forestry industry spends millions of dollars 
annually on fertilising and assessing the nutrition of 
plantations, but the current methods for assessing 
plant nutrition are expensive, labour intensive and 
potentially dangerous as they often involve collecting 
samples by shooting branches from tree crowns. 
Surveys of plantations using foliage diagnostic 
testing also show considerable spatial variation 
in the nutrient status of radiata pine plantations, 
and samples from localised plots may not be 
representative of the range and distribution of 
nutrient	concentrations	in	the	wider	estate.	Predicting	
foliar nutrition concentration levels from satellite 
images may reduce the risks and cost of collecting 
nutrition data while providing quantitative and 
spatially-registered	nutrition	data	at	fine	resolution	
over entire estates. 

Hyperion is a validation instrument and some 
characteristics, such as low signal to noise ratio 
and	narrow	image	width,	can	make	it	difficult	or	
impractical to use. This study improved the readiness 
of plantation growers to use the next generation of 
hyperspectral instruments which will appear in the 
next few years.

See Appendix p81  
Mapping foliar nutrition levels in Pinus radiata using 
hyperspectral satellite images to improve fertiliser 
requirement assessments

	A portable, hand-held NIR instrument can be 
used to collect spectra from wood surfaces. Here 
a spectrum is collected from a bark-free surface.

	The map of predicted nitrogen concentration 
across the test estate at Rennick on the state 
border between Victoria and South Australia 
about 15km east of Mt Gambier.
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Recycled timber in the spotlight

Structural testing and analysis of data for recycled 
timber, by the University of Technology Sydney, 
have established new Interim Industry Standards for 
grading recycled structural and decorative timber 
products. The standards are for recycled timber but 
are	based	on	the	Australian	Standard	hardwood	
grading rules and incorporate recycled timber’s 
additional characteristics. These can include bolt, 
screw and nail holes, and notches, and – importantly 
for structural applications – the previous load history 
and duration of load (DoL) effects that the recycled 
timber was subjected to during its history. 

Special span tables for a common range of recycled 
structural timber uses have been produced for some 
commercial and domestic applications including 
decking, bearers and joists, stair members, posts, 
lintels and roof members. These tables can cater 
for	wind	classifications	up	to	N3	and,	in	cyclonic	
areas, C2.

The	research	has	confirmed	DoL	effects	for	strength	
with short-term strength about one to two ‘F’ grades 
below those assigned to ‘new’ timber because the 
structural properties of nominally sound recycled 
timber are not the same as for ‘new’ timber. This is 
not necessarily a problem because most of the long 
term DoL effects have already been accounted for 
and lesser factors are applicable to recycled timber 
put back into service. It was also found that the 
stiffness or modulus of elasticity for recycled timber 
did	not	vary	significantly	from	that	of	‘new’	timber.

So that structural recycled timber can be used 
efficiently,	some	engineering	design	will	need	to	be	
undertaken to account for its unique properties, and 
guidelines for designers are in the research report.

See Appendix p78 
Development of visual grading rules for 
recycled timber

	A recycled 
structural timber 
application.

	Species: New 
England Oak. 
(image courtesy of  

Boral Timber Flooring)
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Researching well-performing 
timber flooring

Timber flooring is an important high-value product for 
the timber industry. This research focused on three 
areas of flooring failure that have a severe impact 
on	performance,	extending	from	Western	Australia	
through to Tasmania, Victoria and Queensland. 

The	first	area	of	research,	into	the	interaction	of	
adhesive	fixing,	profile	design	and	climate,	provided	
a	better	understanding	of	the	interactions	and	refined	
profile	design	and	fixing	methods,	particularly	in	
overlay and wider board flooring. It was established 
that irrespective of adhesive used, board movement 
occurred and irrespective of the board cross section 
or species, movement in terms of shrinkage gaps 
and cupping also occurred in panels. The research 
showed that adhesives have a limited ability to restrict 
movement on the top side of the board even with 
medium density hardwood down to 10mm thickness.

The second area of research developed a systematic 
approach to assessment of concrete slabs prior to 
laying timber floors, as moisture fluctuations in slabs 
are frequently related with floor performance. The 
conclusion of the research was to follow Cement 
Concrete	&	Aggregates	Australia’s	advice	of	three	
months	for	slab	drying.	After	this	period	a	number	
of tests should be conducted to assess the slab 
moisture content and fluctuation of moisture. The 
results recommend an in-slab relative humidity test, 
with the relative humidity sleeve test proven to be 
the most accurate and least vulnerable to influence 
by external temperature, ambient relative humidity or 
chemical admixtures in the cement mix.

The third area of research examined timber floors 
over sub-floor heating systems, which are becoming 
increasingly popular in the cooler southern states. 
These floors have given poor performance and 
are regarded with some scepticism. The research 
found that in sub-floor heating applications 19mm 
Blackbutt and Messmate flooring perform well but 
that backsawn 12mm Blackbutt flooring exhibits a 
high degree of cupping and is not recommended for 
such installations.

A	best	practice	manual	has	been	published	by	
the	Australian	Timber	Flooring	Association	and	is	
available	from	FWPA’s	timber	information	website,	
www.timber.org.au. 

See Appendix p76 
Timber flooring – advanced research into floor 
performance issues

Alternative pine species for low rainfall 
zones of Australia 

The	Australian	pine	plantation	industry	is	based	
largely on four species, although many other species 
have been introduced and tested over the last 
century. Genetic diversity provides the capacity 
to respond to future uncertainty, so conservation 
of genetic resources is important because the 
very serious threat of pine pitch canker effectively 
prevents importation of new samples, and drought 
tolerant species are needed for the industry to 
expand into lower rainfall areas. 

The research collated data on all existing pine 
species in trial plantings, successfully identifying 
a diverse range of species such as Pinus 
canariensis	in	NSW,	and	P. leiophylla	in	WA,	and	
clearly demonstrating the potential of P. brutia, P. 
halepensis, P. eldarica, P. leiophylla, P. canarensis 
and P. greggii in low-rainfall sites.

The project provides information on where the 
industry can source seed, pollen or grafting material 
of a diverse range of pine species, available on the 
project website, http://dryzonepines.lafs.uq.edu.au/. 

The research recommends a long-term strategy to 
ensure the genetic conservation of these species – 
providing a national repository of the genetic diversity 
in key pine species and its preservation for the next 
100 years.

See Appendix p81  
Review of alternative pine species for low rainfall 
zones of Australia

	Typical Pinus 
canariensis grown 
in a trial plot (You 
Yangs, VIC).  
(image courtesy of  
Dr. P. Blakemore – 
CSIRO Materials 
Science.)
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Wider choice of window treatment 

The number of reasons for using timber windows 
has increased recently as the Window Energy 
Rating	Scheme	(WERS)	has	highlighted	the	
superior insulating properties of wood compared to 
competitive materials such as aluminium and steel. 
The main drawback for timber is its susceptibility 
to biodegradation, primarily through decay. Largely 
for this reason, relatively few timber windows are 
installed	in	northern	Australia,	whereas	they	are	
used widely in Victoria and Tasmania. The aim of this 
project was to investigate and improve the durability 
of timber windows. 

The	research	conducted	a	final	inspection	of	an	
eight-year model window exposure trial designed to 
assess	the	efficacy	of	various	wood	preservatives	
and treatment schedules for ash eucalypts when 
compared to light organic solvent preservative 
(LOSP)-treated	meranti	(Shorea spp.) and untreated 
western red cedar windows (both commonly used 
for timber joinery). 

The research will give industry a wider choice of 
window treatment options that perform as well as 
these painted windows. This trial shows that it will 
be	useful	to	switch	from	TBTN	to	azole-based	LOSP.	
It also shows that some timber species such as 
Eucalyptus obliqua, E. regnans and E. delegatensis 
can perform when treated with boron by vacuum 
pressure impregnation (by the same process already 
used for H1 lyctine borer control) and then painted. 
Boron diffusible preservative rods also provide 
good protection. 

Azole-based	LOSP	for	H3	exposure	(e.g.	windows)	
is currently approved for softwoods but not for 
hardwoods. This research would support the case 
for azoles to be approved for use with hardwoods 
as well.

See Appendix p79 
Inspections of model timber window decay test

Model predicting catchment 
hydrological impacts

Forest plantations established for timber production 
are an increasingly important land use, so it has 
become even more critical to predict and manage 
the effects of plantation development on water 
resources	which	are	under	significant	stress	in	 
many regions.

In	partnership	with	the	Victorian	DPI	and	CSIRO,	
researchers from the University of Melbourne 
developed and validated a physically-based 
modelling	approach	using	the	3PG+	forest	growth	
model	and	CAT	(Catchment	Analysis	Tool).	 

	(right above)  
Model windows exposed in 
Accelerated Field Simulator (AFS).

	(right below)  
Measuring sap velocity using 
the heat pulse technique in 
Pinus radiata in the Pine Creek 
catchment, Victoria.



37	//	OPERATIONS

FW
PA

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T 

08
/0

9

t	Loading fertiliser 
into a modified 
skidder for 
application in a 
thinned radiata 
pine plantation.
(image courtesy of  
ForestrySA)

Research into fertiliser use providing 
value to Australian forests

A	comprehensive	review	of	fertiliser	use	and	research	
in	plantation	forestry	in	Australia	by	FWPA	and	
CSIRO	has	highlighted	major	differences	between	
fertiliser use in hardwood and softwood plantations. 
It also shows that nutrient losses and greenhouse 
gas emissions from fertiliser use in forestry 
are negligible compared with those from most 
agricultural systems.

An	economic	analysis	based	on	data	provided	by	
forest growers shows that fertiliser is likely to be 
a	profitable	means	of	boosting	wood	production.	
Annual	spending	on	fertilising	hardwood	plantations	
is	$31.5	million,	compared	with	$10.5	million	on	
softwood plantations. The amount spent per hectare 
varied according to stand age and plantation type, 
ranging	from	$140-$260	per	hectare	for	hardwoods	
and	from	$120-$160	per	hectare	for	softwoods.

The	industry	would	benefit	from	improved	methods	
of	boosting	the	efficiency	of	fertiliser	use	in	plantation	
forestry as, despite extensive research over the 
past decades, the review highlighted a number of 
important knowledge gaps. Improvements in both 
the	efficiency	and	economics	of	fertiliser	use	are	
expected in the future as research continues into this 
critical aspect of sustainable forest management.

See Appendix p81 
Fertiliser usage in forestry: current status and 
prospects for increasing its efficiency and profitability

The result is a planning tool that predicts the 
transpiration and hydrological impacts of existing 
or proposed plantations for their location and 
management. This gives a reliable means of 
predicting catchment-scale hydrological impacts that 
can be accepted by both the plantation industry and 
regulatory authorities. Using the model, plantation 
managers have the information to potentially reduce 
plantation water use by making well-informed 
decisions on the capacity for rigorous prediction of 
the hydrologic consequences of the establishment 
of multiple plantations and their management. The 
model	supports	DPI	policy	aimed	at	promoting	the	
plantation industry in Victoria.

The framework for the model is relatively complex, 
and gathering the required data and applying it 
appropriately	requires	expert	knowledge.	Promoting	
the modelling framework and demonstrating its 
application to plantation and catchment planning 
could lead to wide acceptance of this planning tool 
by the plantation industry. 

See Appendix p82 
Predicting and managing the impacts of commercial 
plantations on catchment water balances
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Defining the fire-resistance of wood 
poles and fire retardants 

Wood poles have been the pole of choice for 
most electricity supply companies. They are 
attractive, because they are easy to handle, are 
non-conducting and have lower whole-of-life costs 
than	other	materials.	Although	fire	retardants	have	
the potential to protect wood poles exposed to 
a	bushfire,	there	has	been	no	reliable	means	of	
demonstrating	their	efficacy.	

This project aimed to provide data to ensure that the 
choice	of	poles	in	bushfire-prone	areas	is	decided	
on	a	reliable	technical	basis.	The	ENA	Pole	Fire	Test,	
based on a US test, produced the required outcome 
–	the	CCA-treated	hardwood	poles	were	severely	
damaged and creosote-treated hardwood poles 
survived with minimal damage. This research shows 
that	the	ENA	Pole	Fire	Test	can	be	used	to	assess	
the	fire	performance	properties	of	all	pole	types;	that	
creosote-treated	hardwood	poles’	fire	resistance	is	
equivalent to concrete and steel poles; and effective 
fire	retardant	treatments	help	reduce	pole	losses	in	
severe	bushfires.	

Industry	support	for	the	ENA	Pole	Fire	Test	will	
ensure that wood poles are assessed on an 
equitable basis with other pole materials, and that 
the	efficacy	of	fire	retardant	treatments	is	also	
adequately assessed.

Recommendations	included	amending	Australian	
Standard	1530.8.1	–	2007	to	make	it	suitable	for	
assessing	the	performance	of	poles	and	fire	retardant	
treatments	exposed	to	less	severe	bushfires;	
developing an alternative to creosote would confer 
the	same	fire	performance	with	fewer	occupational	
health and safety concerns; and developing markets 
for	fire	retardant-treated	wood	products,	particularly	
in	bushfire-prone	areas.	

See Appendix p78 
Assessing the ability of a large-scale fire test to 
predict the performance of wood poles exposed 
to bushfires and the ability of fire protective 
formulations to reduce loss of wood poles exposed 
to severe bushfires

Plantation water use in the 
Green Triangle

As	the	drought	in	south-eastern	Australian	continues,	
so do debates over the availability of water and 
the quantity used by plantations in the region. This 
project measured the water use by plantations in the 
region to develop a simple, accurate empirical model 
of annual plantation water use. 

Results	show	that	applying	the	empirical	model	
to plantation sites in the region gives the industry 
accurate estimates of annual water-use rates for 
closed-canopy	plantations	(with	±3%	accuracy	for	
sites	not	accessing	groundwater	and	±8%	for	sites	
accessing	groundwater).	Although	easy	to	use,	the	
empirical model is applicable only to plantations in 
south-east	South	Australia	and	south-west	Victoria,	
and cannot be used outside these regions without 
local	testing	and	verification.

Accurate	estimates	of	annual	water	use	rates	for	
closed-canopy plantations, combined with plantation 
productivity, can enable estimation of the value of 
wood produced for a given quantity of water used, 
giving	the	total	net	benefits	from	locating	plantations	
in a particular place.

See Appendix p82 
Quantifying plantation water use in the Green Triangle

	(left) 
FireGuard CCA-
treated radiata 
pine specimen 
four hours after 
test start.

	(centre)  
FireGuard CCA-
treated spotted 
gum specimen 
four hours after 
test start.

	(right)  
FRX CCA-treated 
radiata pine 
specimen four 
hours after  
test start.
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Fewer OH&S requirements with wood-
based options for house constructions

Major	builders	are	faced	with	increased	OH&S	
requirements in house construction when erecting 
steel elements as these require the use of cranes, 
props and riggers. There is potential for the use of 
engineered timber and wood-based products for 
spanning long distances to increase as they don’t 
need	the	same	level	of	OH&S	requirements.	

This	project	by	the	Timber	Development	Association	
of	NSW	has	provided	a	range	of	engineered	timber	
and wood-based options for builders, designers 
and	specifiers	to	use	instead	of	non-wood	based	
products. 

The results of the research have been widely 
communicated to encourage the uptake of large 
span timber beams by those in the timber supply 
chain, and monitoring their use. The website,  
www.timber.net.au gives easy access to more 
information on engineered timber and wood-based 
solutions for large span beam requirements, and also 
has updated plywood box beam span tables in a 
‘limit	state	format’,	including	MGP	pine	grades	and	
LVL solutions.

The use of wood products in house construction 
has the potential to increase as the concepts and 
products are communicated between supply chain 
members and customers, including builders and 
building designers.

See Appendix p76 
Strategy for large span second storey timber and 
wood products

	CSIRO Forest 
Biosciences, 
Waite Road, 
Urrbrae SA.

	Glue laminated 
hardwood frame 
as part of furniture 
extension to the 
University of 
Tasmania’s School 
of Architecture at 
Inveresk.
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Handling and installing roof trusses 
and sarking 

Nail-plated	timber	roof	trusses	have	been	used	
extensively and successfully since the 1960s, 
but inspections in 2002 raised concerns over 
the potential for truss connection failures due to 
nailplate ‘back out’. The problem trusses were of 
conventional, widely used and apparently successful 
designs and the cause of the back out was not clear, 
so a detailed examination of the problem and its 
possible causes was undertaken. 

The	research	identified	four	main	reasons	for	nailplate	
back out, which were:

 poor handling

 poor installation

 manufacturing problems 

 mechano-sorptive back out due to timber swell 
and shrink under moisture cycling. 

Undertaken	by	CSIRO,	the	research	was	focused	
primarily on the mechano-sorptive type of back out, 
due to concerns over the cumulative nature of this 
mode, and its effect on structural integrity over time. 
The results showed that the majority of cases could 
be related to poor building practices that result in 
abnormal moisture penetration into the roof.

The research discovered the fundamental 
mechanisms of mechano-sorptive back out 
of mechanical fasteners in timber joints under 
moisture cycling, and developed new techniques for 
predicting micro-climates within building envelopes. 
Testing a range of solutions focused on preventing 
moisture penetration of the roof space, the research 
shows that the issue would be essentially removed 
if all roofs were sarked with a suitable membrane, 
which	would	also	enhance	the	thermal	efficiency	of	
the home.

See Appendix p77 
Prevention of nailplate tooth withdrawal in plated 
timber trusses

	(above) 
Young Eucalyptus 
globulus  
(southern blue 
gum) plantation 
near Wellstead WA, 
Stirling Ranges in 
the background.

	(below) 
Sarking of timber 
roofs has been 
shown to help 
prevent nailplate 
backout.
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Managing plantations to increase wood 
yields and water use efficiency

The	project	defined	the	scope	for	improving	the	water	
use	efficiency	of	wood	production	in	plantations.

The	researchers	first	reviewed	existing	knowledge	
and analysed existing data to assess the potential 
for	improving	plantation	water	use	efficiency.	CArbon	
BALAnce	(CABALA)	was	adapted	to	model	water	use	
efficiency,	and	then	used	to	develop	a	spreadsheet-
based decision support system for exploring the 
effects of management and site characteristics of 
water	use	efficiency	in	wood	production.	

The results show that water use per unit of wood 
production	varies	more	from	1	to	5	megalitre	per	cubic	
metre.	Efficient	water	use	is	key	to	good	plantation	
management, although there is an increased risk 
of	drought	death.	Reducing	stocking	density	can	
maximise productivity at the same time as minimising 
risk. 

The research shows the effect that plantation 
management decisions have on the amount of water 
required to produce wood. It also gives the forestry 
industry	the	capacity	to	maximise	the	efficiency	of	
conversion from wood to water in their estate. The 
prototype DSS (decision support system) gives 
forestry managers the tools to support their decisions, 
and	will	be	available	in	2010	from	the	CRC	Forestry	
website, www.crcforestry.com.au.

See Appendix p81 
Decision support for water use efficient plantation 
management and wood production (1. Managing 
plantations to increase wood yields and water use 
efficiency)

Reducing greenhouse gas emissions by 
increasing wood in housing construction 

There has been relatively little investigation into the 
storage	and	fate	of	carbon	in	wood	products	in	Australia	
where housing is a major use of wood and has the 
greatest potential for long-term storage of carbon in 
harvested wood products. Other wood products such 
as plywood and panels, paper and packaging are also 
important components of the carbon cycle. 

The aim of the project was to improve existing estimates 
of	carbon	stocks	in	Australian	housing,	where	more	
than	70%	of	harvested	sawn	wood	products	are	used.	
If this timber comes from forests where carbon stocks 
are being maintained, carbon in timber used in housing 
is	a	potentially	important	contributor	to	Australia’s	effort	
to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. The study did not 
attempt to determine the proportion of wood used from 
imported versus domestic sources.

The	research	shows	there	is	significant	capacity	to	
increase the rate of addition to carbon stocks in 
housing. For example, doubling the volume of wood 
currently	used	in	Australian	homes	would	result	in	2.5	
times	as	much	annual	carbon	storage	in	Australian	
houses	in	2050	–	equivalent	to	about	0.7%	of	Australia’s	
greenhouse gas emissions in 2006.

The study also looked at the policies governments 
and industry could introduce to promote increased 
use of wood products in residential construction, and 
recommended	that	the	survey	be	repeated	every	five	
years to detect trends in wood usage.

See Appendix p78 
Dynamics of carbon stocks in timber in 
Australian housing

2008

1

2

3

4

5

2011 2014 2017 2020 2023 2026 2029 2032 2035 2038 2041 2044 2047 2050

Projection of carbon stocks added to housing annually 
with potential increase in wood usage per m2 of floor area.

Year

Carbon 

Stocks 

(Mt CO2-e)



OPERATIONS // 42
FW

PA
 A

N
N

U
A

L 
R

E
P

O
R

T 
08

/0
9

2

Preventing imports of illegally 
logged timber

The	Australian	Government’s	policy	commitment	 
to counter the trade of illegally logged timber 
includes consideration of timber procurement 
mechanisms that could be implemented or improved 
to restrict imports of illegally logged timber and 
wood-based products.

During	the	year	the	final	report	of	a	4-month	FWPA	
project,	proposed	by	the	Australian	Timber	Importers	
Federation,	was	delivered.	Carried	out	by	URS	
Australia,	the	project	examined	mechanisms	used	
to reduce trade in illegally harvested timber and 
wood-based products around the world. It covered 
certification	systems	including	tests	or	indicators	
of legality and sustainability. The aim of the review 
was to help the timber and wood products industry 
contribute to government deliberations on regulatory 
frameworks. Information and recommendations in 
the	report	were	immediately	applied	to	the	Australian	
policy development processes.

The two-stage review found that around the world, 
heightened awareness and concerns about illegal 
logging have stimulated interest in regulatory 
and other mechanisms. In terms of global trade, 

Australia	is	a	relatively	small	importer	of	timber	and	
wood-based products. Thus its capacity to directly 
restrict or reduce illegal logging through regulatory 
measures	is	limited.	However,	Australia	does	have	
the opportunity to contribute to broader international 
effort to reduce illegal logging through clear policy.

Intergovernmental agreements play an important role 
in assisting producer countries to develop effective 
regulatory	processes.	Australia	is	well	positioned	
to engage with regional partner countries through 
multilateral agreements designed to restrict illegal 
logging and related trade. There is scope for further 
development of bilateral agreements with key 
producer countries.

The report also found that in the absence of effective 
regulatory processes in producer countries, timber 
procurement policies and supply chain support 
programs can play important roles for importing 
countries,	like	Australia.	However,	a	complementary	
set of legality mechanisms employed in producer 
and importing countries offer the best framework 
for restricting illegal logging and related trade.

The report is available at www.fwpa.com.au  
Search	for	Project	No.	PRA031–0809.
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CAPABILITY ADOPTION & PROMOTION
STRATEGY THREE:

Increasing the industry’s capability to generate 
knowledge and to promote and encourage its 
adoption is essential to maximise the results of 
FWPA’s	R&D	activities.

Capability

Through scholarships and awards programs, 
targeted at both the industry and the research 
community,	FWPA	seeks	to	increase	the	industry’s	
capability to create and apply knowledge.

Postgraduate	scholarships	are	awarded	to	
encourage new scientists to research disciplines 
and subjects relevant to forest and wood products. 
In 2009, scholarships were awarded for industry-
related studies in chemical engineering, architecture 
and structural engineering.

Past	and	present	postgraduate	students	discuss	
their research and its relevance to the industry in the 
postgrad	profiles	starting	on	page	46.

FWPA Postgraduate Scholarship  
Recipients in 2008/09

DAVID BYLUND

University of Western Australia

Timber	housing	in	Australia:	Using	value-added	
wood products, alternative framing and structural 
systems, prefabrication and design from the 
Scandinavian timber housing industry in the 
Australian	context.

Expected Completion: 2012

JOHN MOORE

University of New England

Monitoring timber bridge beams for structural health.

Expected Completion: 2012

KEE KONG WONG

RMIT University

Optimising resin consumption, pressing time and 
density of particleboard made of hardwood sawmill 
residues by exploring use of alternative resins and 
mixes of softwood and hardwood.

Expected Completion: 2012

EDWINA LOXTON

Australian National University

Assessing	socio-economic	impacts	of	closure	
of native forest to timber harvest.

Expected Completion: 2011

HAMIDUL ISLAM 

RMIT University

Comparative analysis of environmental impacts of 
timber based construction system.

Expected Completion: 2011

LESLEY FRANCIS 

University of Queensland 

Natural	durability	of	Australian	plantation	hardwoods	
intended for high-value products. 

Expected Completion: 2011

LEVI REID 

Monash University

Investigation of sawmilling by-products as 
feedstocks for the furafuel process.

Expected Completion: 2011

ADRIAN HATHORN 

University of New England

Use of genotypic information for Pinus radiata 
improvement.

Expected Completion: 2009

LEIGH AITKEN 

University of Melbourne

The importance of environmental factors in 
microwave-induced permeability of timber.

Expected Completion: 2009

SAM SMITH 

University of Sydney

Improving the modelling of wood/water relationships 
during kiln drying and reconditioning of softwoods.

Completed: 2009
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The	Science	and	Innovation	Awards	for	Young	
People	in	Agriculture,	Fisheries	and	Forestry	offers	
up	to	$50,000	for	people	aged	18	to	35	to	make	
a	contribution	to	rural	industries.	As	part	of	this	
program,	FWPA	sponsors	a	forest	and	wood	
products industry award to encourage the emerging 
generation of scientists to become involved with 
our industry.

Lynette Taylor from the University of Melbourne 
received	the	2008	FWPA-sponsored	prize	for	
her	work	on	the	genetics	of	wood	fibre	formation	
in eucalypts, particularly the genes that control 
microfibril	angle	(MFA),	which	is	involved	in	wood	
fibre	strength.

Building the capability of mid-career members of the 
industry	is	another	important	activity.	FWPA	supports	
awards and prizes that provide opportunities for 
existing industry participants to increase their 
knowledge and develop their skills. The availability 
of awards vary: some are annual while others are 
offered every two to three years.

Mid-career Skills Awards for 2008/09

DENIS CULLITY RESEARCH FELLOWSHIP

Awarded to: Dr Harry Wu

Project title: Overcoming genetic correlations 
between wood volume and stiffness (quality) traits in 
Radiata	pine.	

WORLD FOREST INSTITUTE (WFI) 

FELLOWSHIP PROGRAM

Awarded to:	Ms	Roslyn	Henricks

Project title:	Visual	Management	for	Plantation	 
Forest	Landscapes	in	Australia:	Justification,	theory	
and application for forest managers, harvest  
operators and landscape planners. 

Mid-career Prizes

GOTTSTEIN TRUST

FWPA	is	a	patron	of	the	Joseph	William	Gottstein	
Memorial Trust Fund, which was established in 
1971	as	a	national	education	trust	to	promote	the	
development	of	Australia’s	forest	products	industry.	
The	Trust	has	made	a	significant	contribution	to	
education in the forest industries, awarding more 
than	110	fellowships.	Awards	are	offered	annually.

DENIS CULLITY RESEARCH FELLOWSHIP

The	Denis	Cullity	Research	Fellowship	is	awarded	
annually.	It	enables	Australian	forest	or	forest	
products scientists to undertake or participate in 
R&D	in	a	country	outside	Australia,	which	has	the	
potential	to	benefit	the	Australian	forest	and	wood	
products industry. The fellowship sponsors projects 
of three to six month’s duration. Its intention is to 
enable	Australian	scientists	to	access	leading	edge	
international research and technology.

WORLD FOREST INSTITUTE (WFI) 

FELLOWSHIP PROGRAM

The	annual	WFI	Fellowship	Program	aims	to	develop	
contacts and skills to advance the professional 
careers	of	its	participants.	FWPA,	in	cooperation	
with the J.W. Gottstein Memorial Trust, selects the 
successful	candidate	and	provides	financial	support.	
Australian	Interns	attend	the	World	Forest	Centre	in	
Portland,	Oregon,	USA,	for	one	year	and	produce	
reports	which	are	published	by	FWPA.	

RUSSELL GRIMWADE PRIZE

The	Russell	Grimwade	Prize	is	supported	from	a	
trust	fund	created	by	Mr	(later	Sir)	Wilfrid	Russell	
Grimwade in 1929 with additional funds provided 
by	FWPA.	

Under	the	terms	of	the	trust,	FWPA	must	not	offer	
the prize more frequently than once every two years. 
The prize is to be awarded to encourage forest 
science	in	Australia	and	the	successful	applicant	
is to use the prize to meet the costs or part of the 
costs of undertaking post graduate forestry study 
at	any	tertiary	educational	institution,	in	Australia	
or elsewhere.

3
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Adoption and Promotion 

The	successful	dissemination	of	R&D	findings	is	
criticial to knowledge adoption and technology 
uptake and can help drive the industry’s continuous 
improvement and best practice.

There are two key audiences: industry stakeholders 
and the research community. 

Industry stakeholders need to be informed of, and 
receptive	to,	the	research	findings	and	given	the	
opportunity	to	incorporate	these	findings	into	their	
commercial practices and processes. 

The	research	community	needs	to	recognise	FWPA	
and its members as key customers and take greater 
ownership	of	the	ensuring	that	the	research	findings	
are communicated to industry and relate to industry 
and stakeholder outcomes.

Publication

At	the	completion	of	each	research	project	a	report	
is written. These are primarily for the research 
community, recording the methodology and the 
results. Industry also accesses these reports to 
apply the research results to their operations. With 
the exception of projects dealing with commercially 
sensitive	material,	the	reports	are	published	by	FWPA	
and are available from www.fwpa.com.au. 

FWPA	promotes	completed	projects	through	the	
industry press, media releases and executive 
summaries. Workshops and seminars are also used 
to reach relevant audiences. These activities increase 
awareness of the results and encourage their 
adoption by the industry.

The internet, through www.timber.org.au is also used 
to disseminate information on using timber in design 
and construction. Information sheets, design and 
construction guides and technical material relating 
to construction with timber are distributed through 
this website.

Sponsorships

FWPA	sponsors	technical	conferences	and	supports	
peer	review	and	discussion	of	scientific	research	to	
improve the capacity to service the forest and wood 
products industry.

The National Sustainable Procurement Conference

18-19 September 2008, Brisbane

At	the	National	launch	of	the	Recycled	Grading	Rules,	
Timber Queensland had an exhibition stand and 
displayed	an	FWPA	Banner	in	recognition	of	our	support	
of the research.

Wood Innovation

18-19 September 2008, Melbourne 

New	technologies	in	wood	processing,	manufacturing,	
materials and design.

Australian Forest Growers Conference

19-22 October, Albury

A	biennial	conference	of	the	Australian	Forest	Growers	
Association.	The	2008	conference	theme	was	Climate,	
Commerce	Communities.	Presentations	were	given	
on	FWPA	research	projects.	

Wood Design 08

18 November 2008, Brisbane

An	international	program	of	ideas	and	professional	
development featuring leading architects, designers and 
technical experts. For architects, engineers, builders 
and developers, designers, regulators and wood 
professionals. 

DryTech 2008 

26-27 November 2008, Melbourne

DryTech 2008 provided an update on new timber drying 
technologies, research, and key developments from 
Australasia,	North	America,	South	Africa	and	Europe.	

Wood Preservation 2009

21-22 April 2009, Brisbane 

New	tools,	technologies	and	product	opportunities	in	
wood preservation.

Residues To Revenues 2009 

15-16 June 2009, Melbourne

Topics included quantifying and measuring wood 
biomass resources, logistics in producing, pre-treating, 
harvesting and transporting wood residues, wood  
pellet and other innovative options for utilising wood 
by-products.
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Postgrad 
Profiles

Andrew	Nicholls	completed	a	Master	of	Forest	
Science degree at the University of Melbourne in 
2003	on	an	FWPRDC	postgraduate	scholarship.	 
His topic was operator safety and the productivity  
of harvesting machinery.

Operator fatigue is recognised as a contributor 
to accidents and for the impact this can have 
on industry, but its influence on productivity 
goes largely unrealised. The purpose was 
to explore the effects on operator fatigue of 
working extended hours, particularly at night, 
and to investigate aspects of management to 
improve the productivity of tree harvesting where 
extended-hours operations were necessary.

Mr	Nicholls	concluded	that	by	increasing	the	
awareness of the risks and costs associated 
with operating high-capital plant using fatigued 
operators, the industry will gain a better 
appreciation of the signs and symptoms of 
fatigue, and reduce the impact of fatigued 
operators, lowered productivity and increased 
damage rates.

In terms of productivity, he found that capacity 
to produce wood is compromised in two-shift 
operations as there are few non-scheduled 
timeslots where machines are available for more 
work, and the available pool of operators is more 
limited. So working a one-shift operation, with 
a highly mechanised head, retains the flexibility 
and the capacity for coping with breakdowns and 
surges in production/demand.

Since completing his postgraduate studies,  
Mr	Nicholls	has	worked	with	Forests	NSW	in	
positions relating to forest operations and safety.

Dr	Adam	completed	his	PhD	at	Monash	University	
in	2007	with	the	support	of	an	FWPRDC	
postgraduate scholarship.

He investigated all-timber, prefabricated, composite 
bridge decks which employed round log stringers 
and two types of decking: either sawn radiata 
pine or Bridgewood (a thick ply produced by Boral 
Timber). Details investigated included the method 
of fabrication, the shear connectors employed, 
linear	and	non-linear	finite	element	analyses	of	deck	
performance, and tests on a mixed scale model to 
validate	the	finite	element	analysis.	The	bridges	were	
investigated	at	M1600	loading,	as	specified	by	the	
Australian	Standard	5100.

The radiata pine decking bridge supported a load 
of 1.13 times the required loading of M1600, and 
it supported a load 1.84 times that required under 
B-double loading. The Bridgewood model supported 
a	load	of	1.65	times	the	required	load.

Dr	Adam	has	been	with	the	Monash	Timber	
Engineering Centre since 1993, and is currently 
a	Senior	Research	Fellow.	The	Centre	has	strong	
links with the engineered wood products industry, 
particularly	the	Glued	Laminated	Timber	Association	
of	Australia	and	the	Australian	Timber	Panels	
Association.	Dr	Adam	manages	a	nation-wide	
third-party	quality	auditing	system	for	Australian	
engineered wood products manufacturers.

DR CONSTANTINE ADAM 

Prefabricated, composite 
bridge decks

ANDREW NICHOLLS

Improving industry safety 
awareness
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David	Bylund	is	studying	for	a	PhD	at	the	
University	of	Western	Australia	with	the	support	
of	an	FWPA	Postgraduate	scholarship.	He	has	
an honours degree in architecture from Curtin 
University. 

Mr	Bylund’s	PhD	topic	is	‘Timber	housing	in	
Australia:	Using	value-added	wood	products,	
alternative framing and structural systems, 
prefabrication and design from the Scandinavian 
timber	housing	industry	in	Australia’.

Since	European	settlement,	Australia	has	been	
using milled timber as a building material in the 
construction of housing. With the establishment 
and mainstream acceptance of materials such 
as	masonry	and	steel,	the	uptake	of	significant	
technological	developments	in	Australia	with	the	
use of timber has largely stagnated.

Improvements in timber building technologies in 
other countries have presented architects and 
builders with new techniques and processes that 
maximise timber’s competitive advantage over 
other building materials. 

The aim of researching timber and its use in 
Sweden is to analyse developments and track 
the key success points of their wood product 
value adding, prefabrication and to review other 
technical and design advances. By liaising 
with	Australian	timber	companies	to	refine	
and develop the outcomes from the Swedish 
research, Mr Bylund will develop a range of 
prototype	Australian	housing	solutions.

The	findings	will	provide	an	insight	into	how	the	
use of value-added wood products, alternative 
framing and structural systems, prefabrication 
and good design can support better, more 
affordable	housing	in	Australia.

In	2005	Jack	Norton	was	awarded	the	degree	of	
Master	of	Philosophy	in	Chemical	Engineering,	
University of Queensland, for his studies of 
the composting of timber containing wood 
preservative chemicals.

Formulations of copper chromium and arsenic 
(CCA)	are	Australia’s	most	common	wood	
preservatives.	Protection	is	expected	to	last	
indefinitely,	which	can	lead	to	disposal	issues.

Mr	Norton	developed	a	technique	for	accelerating	
the bio-deterioration of wood that has been 
treated	with	CCA	wood	preservative	intended	
for a weather-exposed out-of-ground contact 
hazard. The treated wood was exposed to a 
high(er) hazard environment with the intention 
that a managed process would provide a 
safe pathway for the ultimate disposal of 
treated wood.

He developed a closed system bio-reactor 
which contained micro-organisms collected 
from	around	CCA	treated	timber	that	had	been	
exposed	in	the	ground	for	more	than	five	years.	
A	range	of	treated	and	untreated	samples	
were tested.

The results showed that the developed technique 
led to the deterioration of preservative treated 
wood and consequently has potential as a 
method of disposal for this material. The closed 
nature of the technique avoids pollution that 
might	otherwise	occur	as	a	result	of	CCA	being	
released from the wood.

Mr	Norton	is	the	Leader	of	the	Product	
Performance	Group	in	the	Horticulture	and	
Forestry	Science	Program	of	Primary	Industries	
and Fisheries, Queensland, and Deputy 
President	of	the	International	Research	Group	on	
Wood	Protection.	

JACK NORTON

Composting of  
preservative-treated wood

DAVID BYLUND

New approaches to  
timber housing
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Adrian	Hathorn	is	studying	for	a	PhD	at	the	
University	of	New	England	with	the	support	of	
an	FWPA	Postgraduate	scholarship.	He	has	
an honours degree in Forest Science from the 
Australian	National	University.

He is studying forestry quantitative genetics and 
genomics in Pinus radiata. Genomic selection 
is a relatively new method that uses all available 
marker information in estimating an individual’s 
genetic worth.

Genomic selection has the potential to 
revolutionise the genetic improvement of 
Pinus radiata, making it faster, cheaper and 
more	efficient.

Mr Hathorn’s study aims to reduce the incidence 
of low-value juvenile wood in the inner tree by 
breeding for early maturity. The objective is to 
produce solid internal and outer rings to provide 
a more useful timber.

The underlying theme in this project is a 
comparison	of	genomic	selection	using	DNA	
marker information, and traditional pedigree- 
based selection using phenotypic information 
from the individual and its progeny. Evidence 
points to genomic selection being equally if not 
more accurate than traditional pedigree-based 
selection. However, much of this evidence 
has been drawn from simulated experiments 
that make numerous assumptions about gene 
behaviour. Mr Hathorn is ‘road testing’ the 
genomic selection method with different genetic 
parameters and under different models of 
gene action.

Edwina	Loxton	is	studying	for	a	PhD	at	the	
Australian	National	University	with	the	support	
of	an	FWPA	Postgraduate	scholarship.	She	has	
a	BSc	degree	in	Resource	and	Environmental	
Management, with honours.

Harvesting native forests has become 
increasingly controversial and political since 
the	1970s,	with	governments	responding	to	
heightened public concern for the environment, 
and calls for harvesting in native forests to be 
stopped or restricted. 

The	use	of	social	impact	assessments	(SIA)	
of policy decisions to close or restrict native 
forestry,	including	SIAs	conducted	as	part	of	
the	Regional	Forest	Agreement	(RFA)	process,	
provided an indication of potential individual, 
family	and	community	based	impacts.	The	RFA	
process was carried out along the east coast of 
Australia	during	the	1990s.	The	process	did	not	
gain absolute support, but it does provide a good 
reference point.

Ms	Loxton’s	study	will	build	on	RFA	and	other	
SIA	research	methods	and	conclusions.	She	
will explore the socio-economic effects of the 
closure of native forestry, and compare these 
to the predicted impacts as discussed in the 
original	SIAs.	

The	findings	will	be	used	to	recommend	
improvements to structural adjustment processes 
if they are necessary, as well as providing 
communities facing resource closure with a better 
knowledge of the consequences and how to deal 
with them.

ADRIAN HATHORN

Faster improvement of 
forest species

EDWINA LOXTON

The social impacts of  
closing native forests to  
timber harvesting
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Directors

During the reporting period, eight non-executive 
directors served on the Board as well as the Managing 
Director. Six Directors (including the Managing 
Director) were Directors of the Company for the full 
financial	year.	One	Director	resigned	at	the	last	annual	
general meeting and three Directors were appointed 
at the same meeting. One of the newly appointed 
Directors,	Mr	Nick	Roberts,	served	as	a	Board	
appointee	to	fill	a	casual	vacancy	on	the	Board	and	
thus was a Director for the full 12 months. Further 
details	of	Directors’	qualifications,	experience	and	
Board responsibilities are on pages 8-9 of this report.

Election of directors

According	to	the	Company	Constitution,	FWPA’s	
Board	shall	comprise	between	five	and	nine	directors	
(including the Managing Director) at least two of 
whom	are	independent	directors.	After	the	first	
annual general meeting, directors, with the exception 
of the Managing Director who is an employee of the 
company, are appointed on a rotational basis by the 
company’s voting members at the annual general 
meeting. The appointments are for terms of three 
years with a maximum of three consecutive terms. 

Mr Ron Adams Non-executive	director

Mr Peter Zed Non-executive	director

Ms Kathryn Adams Non-executive	director

Mr Vince Erasmus Non-executive	director Appointed	8	October	2008

Mr Ken Last Non-executive	director Resigned	8	October	2008

Dr Sadanandan Nambiar Non-executive	director

Mr Nick Roberts Non-executive	director Appointed	8	October	2008

Mr Jim Snelson Non-executive	director Appointed	8	October	2008

Mr Ric Sinclair Managing Director

Board committees

Board committees ensure appropriate management 
and review of company operations, and make certain 
that investments are adequately evaluated and 
deliver outcomes to Company Members and other 
stakeholders.	The	Board	committees	are:	Audit	and	
Finance	Committee,	Research	and	Development	
Investment	Committee,	and	Promotion,	Services	and	
Communication	Committee.	All	committee	members	
listed below were members of the committee for the 
entire	year,	unless	otherwise	specified.	

Audit and Finance Committee

Members: Mr Ken Last (Chair until 8 October 2008) 
Jim Snelson (Chair 8 October 2008 – 30 June 2009), 
Ron	Adams,	Kathryn	Adams	(8	October	2008	–	 
30 June 2009).

Invited	participants:	Mr	Ric	Sinclair.

The	key	tasks	of	the	Audit	and	Finance	
Committee are to:

 Ensure prudent management of the company’s 
finances;	ensure	the	Board	makes	informed	
decisions regarding the company’s overall 
expenditures; ensure activities approved by the 
Board	are	consistent	with	Australian	law	relating	
to	prudent	financial	management;	ensure	the	
terms and conditions of employment of the 
company’s staff are consistent with the relevant 
Commonwealth and State Government policies 
and laws; and provide a general overview of the 
company’s	financial	management.

	 Liaise	with	FWPA’s	auditors;	review	the	
adequacy of internal controls and of compliance 
with relevant laws, regulations, policies and 
procedures; report to the Board on the adequacy 
of audit procedures; and promote accurate, high 
quality	and	timely	disclosure	of	financial	and	other	
information to the Board and key stakeholders.
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Research and Development 
Investment Committee

Members:	Mr	Peter	Zed	(Chair),	Mr	Ken	Last	 
(1 July 2008 – 8 October 2008), Dr Sadanandan 
Nambiar,	Mr	Ric	Sinclair,	Mr	Vince	Erasmus	 
(8	October	2008	–	30	June	2009),	Mr	Nick	Roberts	
(8 October 2008 – 30 June 2009). 

The	key	tasks	of	the	Research	and	Development	
Investment Committee are to:

	 Approve	research	investments	as	specified	within	
the	Company	Delegation	Authority.

	 Provide	recommendations	to	the	Board	regarding	
the	company’s	R&D	project	investments	and	
policies; ensure the prudent management of the 
company’s	contractual	R&D	commitments;	and	
work in association with industry advisory groups 
to	develop	R&D	strategy	and	identify	priorities.

Promotion, Services and 
Communication Committee

Members:	Ms	Kathryn	Adams	(Chair),	 
Mr	Ron	Adams	(1	July	2008	–	8	October	2008),	 
Mr	Nick	Roberts,	Jim	Snelson	(8	October	2008	–	 
30	June	2009),	Mr	Ric	Sinclair.

The	key	tasks	of	the	Promotion,	Services	and	
Communication Committee are to:

	 Approve	investments	as	specified	within	the	
Company	Delegation	Authority.

	 Oversee	the	Capability,	Adoption	and	Promotion	
program, including advising the company on 
knowledge management and technology transfer 
from	R&D	activities;	develop	and	implement	
the company’s communication and technology 
transfer plans; and provide informed advice to 
the Board regarding the company’s marketing, 
communication and technology transfer activities.

Board meetings

During the reporting period the Board held six 
meetings. Details of attendance by individual Board 
members are provided below.

DIRECTOR BOARD AUDIT & FINANCE R & D PROMOTION, SERVICES 
& COMMUNICATION

No.	meetings	
attended

No.	meetings	
eligible to 
attend

No.	meetings	
attended

No.	meetings	
eligible to 
attend

No.	meetings	
attended

No.	meetings	
eligible to 
attend

No.	meetings	
attended

No.	meetings	
eligible to 
attend

Mr Ron Adams 6 6 3 3 1 1

Mr Peter Zed 6 6 4 4

Ms Kathryn Adams 6 6 2 2 3 3

Mr Vince Erasmus 4 5 3 3

Mr Ken Last* 1 2 1 1 1 1

Dr Sadanandan Nambiar 6 6 3 4

Mr Nick Roberts 5 6 2 3 3 3

Mr Jim Snelson 5 5 2 2 2 2

Mr Ric Sinclair 6 6 3 3 4 4 3 3

* Resigned with effect from 8 October 2008

Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings 
1 July 2008 – 30 June 2009
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Nature of operations
The	major	activities	of	the	FWPA	during	the	financial	
year comprised:

	 Providing	research	and	development	to	support	
the	Australian	forest	and	wood	products	industry;	
and

	 Providing	domestic	marketing	and	promotion	
services	to	the	Australian	forest	and	wood	
products industry.

There	have	been	no	significant	changes	in	the	nature	
of these operations during the period.

Results of operations
The	operating	result	for	the	financial	year	to	 
30	June	2009	was	an	operating	deficit	of	
$1,518,043.	

Rounding amounts
FWPA	is	a	Company	of	the	kind	specified	in	the	
Australian	Securities	and	Investments	Commission	
class order 98/0100. In accordance with that class 
order,	amounts	in	the	financial	statements	and	the	
directors’ report have been rounded to the nearest 
dollar	unless	specifically	stated	to	be	otherwise.

Significant events after the 
balance date
There have been no events between the end of the 
financial	year	and	the	date	of	this	report,	which	in	the	
opinion	of	the	Directors	is	likely	to	affect	significantly	
the operations of the company, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the company in 
subsequent	financial	years.

Code of conduct
The	FWPA	Code	of	Conduct	requires	the	Board	
and all staff to promote high standards of ethics 
and integrity. The language, attitudes and actions 
of Directors, senior management and staff must 
reflect the principles of integrity and ethics, as well 
as the company’s values and culture. The Code of 
Conduct	recognises	that	FWPA’s	employees	are	
vital	to	the	fulfillment	of	the	company’s	purpose	and,	
consequently, the highest level of staff satisfaction, 
health and safety must be maintained. It also 
encourages Directors and staff to commit to the 
philosophy of continuous improvement at the 
corporate and individual levels.

Conflict of interest and register 
of interests
A	Director	must	disclose	an	interest	wherever	he	or	
she considers there is a potential conflict of interest 
and a Declaration of Directors’ Interests is a standing 
agenda item for all Board meetings. This policy is 
consistent with Section 21 of the Corporations  
Act 2001. 

Risk management, fraud control 
and business recovery
The company has risk management, business 
recovery and fraud control plans in place. During the 
year, the Board approved a new human resource 
policy and procedures, a Corruption and Fraud 
Control and Whistleblower policies. The Board also 
approved new terms of reference for each Board 
Committee	and	the	associated	Delegations	Authority.

Environmental regulation 
and performance
The company is not subject to any particular or 
significant	environmental	regulation.	

Indemnification and insurance of 
directors and officers
Appropriate	insurance	policies	were	maintained	
for	the	period	to	cover	directors	and	officers	for	
professional indemnity; general liability; property loss, 
destruction or damage; increased cost of working/
business	interruption;	official	overseas	travel	and	
workers’ compensation.

Auditor independence
The auditors’ independence declaration in relation to 
the	audit	of	the	company’s	accounts	for	the	financial	
year	30	June	2009	is	set	out	in	the	financial	report	
and forms part of the Directors’ report.

Registered office and principal 
place of business
Level 4, 10-16 Queen Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000 
Phone:	(03)	9614	7544
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Directors’ Declaration

The directors of the Company declare that:

1.	 The	financial	statements	and	notes,	as	set	out	on	pages	54	to	71,	are	in	accordance	with	the	Corporations 
Act 2001 and:

(a)	 comply	with	Accounting	Standards	and	the	Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)	 give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	financial	position	as	at	30	June	2009	and	of	the	performance	for	the	period	
ended on that date of the Company.

2. In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

 
 
 
 

Director

Ronald	Adams

 
 
 
 
Director

Alaric	Sinclair

 
Dated	this	25th	day	of	August	2009
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FINANCIAL REPORT

  2009 2008 
 Note $ $

Revenue	from	ordinary	activities	 2(A)	 8,787,649	 7,683,781

Other	income	 2(C)	 796,108	 614,561

Employee	benefits	expense	 3(A)	 (1,066,787)	 (729,531)

Depreciation,	amortisation	and	impairments	 7(A)	 (33,466)	 (8,087)

External	research	and	development	project	costs	 3(B)	 (6,053,332)	 (5,594,116)

Industry	and	product	promotion	 	 (3,221,820)	 (293,037)

Other	expenses	 3(C)	 (726,395)	 (693,640)

Net surplus/(deficit)  (1,518,043) 979,931

for the year ended 30 June 2009Income statement

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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  2009 2008 
 Note $ $

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash	&	cash	equivalents	 4	 2,917,235	 6,546,123

Trade	and	other	receivables	 5	 741,371	 1,152,431

Financial	assets	 6	 7,047,105	 4,562,610

Total current assets  10,705,711 12,261,164

Non-current assets

Furniture	and	equipment	 7	 152,202	 167,498

Total non-current assets  152,202 167,498

Total assets  10,857,913 12,428,662

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade	and	other	payables	 8	 135,314	 203,602

Short-term	provisions	 9	 61,888	 50,526

Other current liabilities 10 6,000 6,000

Total current liabilities  203,202 260,128

Non-current liabilities

Other	long-term	provisions	 9	 28,492	 18,272

Other non-current liabilities 10 18,000 24,000

Total non-current liabilities  46,492 42,272

Total liabilities  249,694 302,400

Net assets  10,608,219 12,126,262

EQUITY

Transferred	surplus	(from	FWPRDC)	 11	 11,146,331	 11,146,331

Retained	earnings	(from	2007/08)	 	 979,931	 979,931

Retained	earnings/(deficit)	 	 (1,518,043)	 –

Total equity  10,608,219 12,126,262

as at 30 June 2009Balance sheet

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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FINANCIAL REPORT

  Transferred Retained 
  Surplus  Earnings Total 
 Note $ $ $

Balance at 20 August 2007 11 11,146,331 – 11,146,331

Net	surplus/(deficit)	 	 –	 979,931	 979,931

Balance at 30 June 2008  11,146,331 979,931 12,126,262

Net	surplus/(deficit)	 	 –	 (1,518,043)	 (1,518,043)

Balance at 30 June 2009  11,146,331 (538,112) 10,608,219

NB:	The	Company’s	equity	balance	at	year	end	should	be	read	in	the	context	of	the	following	
Schedule of Commitments.

Schedule of Commitments for the year ended 30 June 2009

  2009 2008 
   $ $

By type

Commitments

Commitments¹	 	 8,119,389	 7,298,658

Total commitments by type  8,119,389 7,298,658

By maturity

Commitments

One	year	or	less	 	 3,915,803	 4,667,824

From	one	to	five	years	 	 4,203,586	 2,630,834

Total commitments by maturity  8,119,389 7,298,658

NB:	Commitments	are	GST	inclusive	where	relevant.

¹	As	at	30	June	2009,	other	commitments	comprise	payable	under	project	and	grant	agreements	in	respect	of	which	
the recipients are yet to either perform the services required or meet eligibility conditions. Details of Commitments:

 Commitments  Total
 0-1 year 1-5 years Commitments

Market	access	development	 1,405,094	 1,124,592	 2,529,686

Solid	wood	processing	 966,014	 1,612,490	 2,578,504

Sustainability	&	resources	 1,209,349	 1,235,505	 2,444,854

Capability	adoption	&	promotions	 286,465	 230,999	 517,464

Other	R&D	matchable	activities	 48,881 – 48,881

	 3,915,803	 4,203,586	 8,119,389

for the year ended 30 June 2009Statement of Changes in Equity

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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  2009 2008 
 Note $ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts	from	members	and	government	 	 9,224,476	 11,934,173

Payments	to	suppliers	and	employees	 	 (11,115,041)	 (7,220,865)

Interest	received	 	 785,846	 398,487

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 13 (1,104,719) 5,111,795

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 (24,169)	 (105,784)

Acquisition	of	financial	assets	 	 (2,500,000)	 (4,531,773)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (2,524,169) (4,637,557)

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash	acquired	on	the	transfer	of	operations	 	 –	 6,071,885

Net	cash	provided	by	(used	in)	financing	activities	 	 –	 6,071,885

Net increase (decrease) in cash held  (3,628,888) 6,546,123

Cash	at	the	beginning	of	the	reporting	period	 	 6,546,123	 –

Cash at end of financial period 4 2,917,235 6,546,123

for the year ended 30 June 2009Cash Flow Statement

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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1 Accounting policies

The	financial	report	is	a	general	purpose	financial	report	that	has	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	Accounting	
Standards,	Australian	Accounting	Interpretations,	other	authoritative	pronouncements	of	the	Australian	
Accounting	Standards	Board	and	the	Corporations Act 2001.

Forest	&	Wood	Products	Australia	Limited	is	a	company	limited	by	guarantee,	incorporated	and	domiciled	
in	Australia.

The	financial	report	of	Forest	&	Wood	Products	Australia	Limited	complies	with	all	Australian	equivalents	
to	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(AIFRS)	in	their	entirety.

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Company in the preparation 
of	the	financial	report.	The	accounting	policies	have	been	consistently	applied,	unless	otherwise	stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The	financial	report	has	been	prepared	on	an	accruals	basis	and	is	based	on	historical	costs	modified	by	the	
revaluation	of	selected	noncurrent	assets,	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	for	which	the	fair	value	basis	
of accounting has been applied.

(b) Significant accounting estimates

The	preparation	of	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities	and	disclosure	of	contingent	assets	and	liabilities	at	the	date	of	the	financial	statements	and	the	
reported	amounts	of	revenues	and	expenses	during	the	reporting	period.	Actual	results	could	differ	from	
those estimates and may have an impact on future periods.

(c) Comparatives

The	Company	was	incorporated	on	20	August	2007.	The	previous	year	comparatives	consist	of	10	months	
of	operation.	Comparative	figures	have	been	adjusted	to	conform	to	changes	in	presentation	in	these	
financial	statements	where	required.

(d) Revenue

Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable 
to	the	financial	assets.

Members	levies	are	recognised	on	advice	of	entitlement	from	the	Department	of	Agriculture,	Fisheries	
and Forestry and from State Growers’ estimate of their levies payable.

Government contributions are recognised at fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the 
contribution will be received and all conditions will be met.

All	revenue	is	stated	net	of	the	amount	of	goods	and	services	tax	(GST).

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2009
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(f) Furniture and equipment

Each class of furniture and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

Purchases	of	furniture	and	equipment	are	recognised	initially	at	cost,	except	for	purchases	costing	less	
than	$1,000,	which	are	expensed	in	the	year	of	acquisition	(other	than	where	they	form	part	of	a	group	of	
similar	items	which	are	significant	in	total).	The	cost	and	related	accumulated	depreciation	on	furniture	and	
equipment sold or otherwise disposed of are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is reported 
as current period’s revenue or expense.

Depreciation

The	depreciable	amount	of	all	fixed	assets	is	depreciated	on	a	straightline	basis	over	their	useful	lives	to	
the Company commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are 
depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of 
the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Office	equipment	 13%	–	27%

Leasehold	improvements	 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance 
sheet date.

The carrying amount of furniture and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess 
of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the 
expected net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. The 
expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts.

An	asset’s	carrying	amount	is	written	down	immediately	to	its	recoverable	amount	if	the	asset’s	carrying	
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains 
and losses are included in the income statement. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the 
revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.

(g) Financial instruments

Recognition and initial measurement

Financial	instruments,	incorporating	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities,	are	recognised	when	the	Company	
becomes	a	party	to	contractual	provisions	of	the	instruments.	Trade	date	accounting	is	adopted	for	financial	
assets that are delivered within timeframes established by marketplace convention.

Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, which includes transaction costs, when 
the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are 
measured as set out below.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

A	financial	asset	is	classified	in	this	category	if	acquired	principally	for	the	purpose	of	selling	in	the	short-term	
or	if	so	designated	by	management	and	within	the	requirements	of	AASB	139:	Recognition	and	Measurement	
of	Financial	Instruments.	Realised	and	unrealised	gains	and	losses	arising	from	changes	in	the	fair	value	of	
these assets are included in the income statement in the period in which they arise.

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2009
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Held-to-maturity investments

These	investments	have	fixed	maturities,	and	it	is	the	Company’s	intention	to	hold	these	investments	to	
maturity.	Any	held-to-maturity	investments	held	by	the	Company	are	stated	at	amortised	cost	using	the	
effective interest rate method.

Loans and receivables

Loans	and	receivables	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	that	are	not	
quoted in an active market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale	financial	assets	include	any	financial	assets	not	included	in	the	above	categories.	Available-
for-sale	financial	assets	are	reflected	at	fair	value.	Unrealised	gains	and	losses	arising	from	changes	in	fair	
value are taken directly to equity.

Financial liabilities

Non-derivative	financial	liabilities	are	recognised	at	amortised	cost,	comprising	original	debt	less	principal	
payments and amortisation.

Impairment

At	each	reporting	date,	the	Company	assesses	whether	there	is	objective	evidence	that	a	financial	instrument	
has	been	impaired.	In	the	case	of	available-for-sale	financial	instruments,	a	prolonged	decline	in	the	value	of	
the instrument is considered to determine whether impairment has arisen. Impairment losses are recognised 
in the income statement.

(h) Trade payables

Trade and other payables are stated at cost, which approximates fair value due to the short-term nature 
of these liabilities.

(i) Employee benefits

Provision	is	made	for	the	Company’s	liability	for	employee	benefits	arising	from	services	rendered	by	
employees	to	balance	date.	Employee	benefits	that	are	expected	to	be	settled	within	one	year	have	been	
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs. Employee 
benefits	payable	later	than	one	year	have	been	measured	at	present	value	of	the	estimated	future	cash	
outflows	to	be	made	for	those	benefits.

Long service leave

The	liability	for	long	service	leave	is	recognised	in	the	provision	for	employee	benefits	and	measured	as	the	
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to 
the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the 
reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely 
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Superannuation

Employees	of	the	Company	are	members	of	the	Australian	Government	Employees	Superannuation	Trust	
(AGEST),	State	Super	Financial	Service	(SSFS),	Equipsuper,	ING	Superannuation	Fund	and	UniSuper.	
Contributions are made to the Company employee superannuation funds and are charged as expenses 
when incurred.

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2009
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(j) Provisions

Provisions	are	recognised	when	the	Company	has	a	legal	or	constructive	obligation	as	a	result	of	a	past	event	
and	it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	economic	benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	the	obligation	and	a	reliable	
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the 
risks	specific	to	the	liability.

(k) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues,	expenses	and	assets	are	recognised	net	of	the	amount	of	GST,	except	where	the	amount	of	GST	
incurred	is	not	recoverable	from	the	Australian	Taxation	Office.	In	these	circumstances	the	GST	is	recognised	
as	part	of	the	cost	of	acquisition	of	the	asset	or	as	part	of	an	item	of	the	expense.	Receivables	and	payables	
in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST component of 
investing	and	financing	activities,	which	are	disclosed	as	operating	cash	flows.

(l) Lease

Leases	are	classified	as	finance	or	operating	leases.	A	lease	that	transfers	substantially	all	of	the	benefits	and	
risks	incidental	to	the	ownership	of	property	is	classified	as	a	finance	lease.	All	other	leases	are	accounted	
for as operating leases wherein rental payments are expensed as incurred. The Company does not have any 
finance	leases.

(m) Impairment of assets

The Company monitors the recoverability of assets, based on factors such as current market value, future 
asset utilisation, business climate and future undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the 
related assets. The Company’s policy is to record an impairment loss in the period when it is determined that 
the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. The impairment loss is calculated as the amount 
by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the undiscounted estimate of future cash flows from the 
asset. To 30 June 2009, no impairment losses have been recorded.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

(n) Income taxes

No	provision	for	income	tax	has	been	raised	as	the	Company	is	exempt	from	income	tax	under	Division	50	
of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

(o) Rounding of amounts

The	Company	has	applied	the	relief	available	to	it	under	ASIC	Class	Order	98/0100	and	accordingly,	amounts	
in	the	financial	report	and	directors’	report	have	been	rounded	off	to	the	nearest	$1.

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2009
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  2009 2008 
 Note $ $

2 Revenue

(a) Revenue

Commonwealth	matching	 	 3,729,252	 3,407,188

Industry	contributions	 2(b)	 5,058,397	 4,276,593

Total revenue  8,787,649 7,683,781

(b) Industry contributions

Processors	 	 3,102,876	 2,622,744

Importers	 	 702,583	 882,008

Growers	 	 573,853	 245,107

State	growers	 	 669,540	 515,922

Penalties	 	 9,545	 10,812

Total industry contributions  5,058,397 4,276,593

(c) Other revenue

Bank	interest	received	 	 728,684	 473,468

Industry	project	contributions	 	 61,951	 136,951

Others	 	 5,473	 4,142

Total other revenue  796,108 614,561

3 Expenses

(a) Employee benefits expense

Wages	and	salaries	 	 948,752	 693,992

Annual	leave	 	 3,375	 (21,658)

Long	service	leave	 	 21,581	 (12,803)

Superannuation	contributions	 	 75,307	 50,657

Payroll	tax	 	 17,772	 19,343

Total employee benefits expense  1,066,787 729,531

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2009
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  2009 2008 
   $ $

(b) External Research & Development projects costs

Market	access	development	 	 2,203,041	 2,793,634

Solid	wood	processing	 	 1,174,102	 693,000

Sustainability	&	resources	 	 1,825,841	 1,475,361

Capability	adoption	&	promotions	 	 826,220	 632,121

Other	R&D	matchable	activities	 	 24,128	 –

Total external research and development project costs  6,053,332 5,594,116

NB:	Total	matchable	external	and	internal	research	and	development	 
costs	were	$7,706,166.

(c) Other expenses include:

Rental	expense	on	operating	leases

Minimum	lease	payments	 	 53,354	 40,188

4 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand  200 200

Cash	at	bank	 	 917,035	 945,923

Short-term	bank	deposits	 	 2,000,000	 5,600,000

  2,917,235 6,546,123

The	effective	interest	rate	on	short-term	bank	deposits	was	7.7%; 
these deposits have an average maturity of 69 days.

5 Trade and other receivables

Current

Commonwealth	matching	 	 544,174	 815,329

Levies	receivable	 	 217,682	 276,142

Interest	receivable	 	 12,749	 54,407

Prepayments	 	 11,255	 –

GST	receivable/(payable)	 	 (44,489)	 6,553

  741,371 1,152,431

6 Other financial assets

Held	to	maturity	investment:	long-term	bank	deposits	 	 7,047,105	 4,562,610

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2009
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  2009 2008 
   $ $

7 Furniture and equipment

Furniture and Equipment

Office	equipment

At	cost	 	 131,856	 122,627

Less	accumulated	depreciation	 	 (103,332)	 (94,951)

Total office equipment  28,524 27,676

Improvements

At	cost	 	 154,455	 140,365

Less	accumulated	depreciation	 	 (30,777)	 (543)

Total improvements  123,678 139,822

Total furniture and equipment  152,202 167,498

(a) Movements in Carrying Amounts

 Office 
 Equipment Improvements Total 
 $ $ $

Balance	at	30	June	2008	 27,676	 139,822	 161,498

Additions	 9,229	 14,090	 24,169

Depreciation	expense	 (8,381)	 (24,234)	 (33,465)

Lease incentive amortisation – (6,000) (6,000)

Carrying amount at the end of period 28,524 123,678 152,202

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2009
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  2009 2008 
   $ $

8 Trade and other payables

Current

Trade	payables	 	 58,882	 100,115

Employee	benefits	 	 45,240	 41,865

  104,122 141,980 
Other payables & accruals

Audit	fee	 	 9,500	 9,000

Legal	fees	 	 –	 1,575

PAYG	tax	&	FBT	(BAS)	 	 21,692	 22,123

Relocation	–	moving	costs	 	 –	 4,562

Salaries	and	wages	 	 –	 4,549

Accrued	superannuation	 	 –	 470

Payroll	tax	 	 –	 19,343

  31,192 61,622

  Long term 
 Make good employee 
 of premises benefits Total 
 $ $ $

9 Provisions

Balance	at	30	June	2008	 24,500	 44,298	 68,798

Additional	provisions	 –	 21,582	 21,582

Balance at 30 June 2009 24,500 65,880 90,380

The number of employees at 30 June 2009 was 8.

  2009 2008 
   $ $

Analysis of total provisions

Current	 	 61,888	 50,526

Non-current	 	 28,492	 18,272

  90,380 68,798

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2009
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  2009 2008 
   $ $

10 Other liabilities

Current

Lease incentive liability  6,000 6,000

Non-current

Lease incentive liability  18,000 24,000

 

11 Transferred Surplus

The	transferred	surplus	records	the	surplus	of	$11,146,331	of	assets	over	liabilities	transferred	into	the	company	
from	its	predecessor,	Forest	&	Wood	Products	Research	&	Development	Corporation	(FWPRDC).

The provisions contained within the Forestry Marketing and Research & Development Services (Transitional 
and Consequential Provisions) Act 2007	coupled	with	the	company’s	Statutory	Funding	Agreement	with	the	
Commonwealth,	dated	3	September	2007,	has	established	Forest	and	Wood	Products	Australia	Limited	(FWPAL)	
as	the	forest	industry	services	body.	Associated	declarations	by	the	Commonwealth	Minister	for	Agriculture,	
Fisheries	and	Forestry	had	led	to	FWPAL	becoming	the	successor	in	law	to	the	assets	and	liabilities	of	FWPRDC.	
The	transfer	of	the	substantial	net	asset	of	FWPRDC	occurred	on	3	September	2007.

Additionally,	as	of	3	September	2007,	the	Agreement	with	the	Commonwealth	has	led	to	FWPAL	also	becoming	
the recipient of forest industry levies collected under the Forestry Marketing and Research and Development 
Services (Transitional and Consequential Provisions) Act 2007.

12 Members’ Guarantee

The Company is limited by guarantee. If the Company is wound up, the Constitution states that each member 
is	required	to	contribute	a	maximum	of	$1	each	towards	any	outstanding	obligations	of	the	Company.	
At	30	June	2009	the	number	of	members	was	62.

  2009 2008 
   $ $

13 Cash Flow information

Reconciliation of Cash Flow from operations 
with profit after income tax

Net	income/loss	for	the	period	 	 (1,518,043)	 979,931

Non-cash	flows	in	profit

	 Depreciation,	amortisation	and	impairments	 	 33,466	 8,087

  Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects 
of transfers of operations

	 (Increase)/decrease	in	trade	and	term	receivables	 	 426,564	 4,034,320

 Increase/(decrease) in trade payables and accruals  (68,288) 116,448

	 Increase/(decrease)	in	employee	provisions	 	 21,582	 (26,991)

Cash flow from operations  (1,104,719) 5,111,795

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2009
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14 Financial instruments

(a) Financial Risk Management Policies

The	Company’s	financial	instruments	consist	mainly	of	deposits	with	banks,	short-term	investments,	accounts	
receivable	and	accounts	payable.	It	does	not	have	any	derivative	financial	instruments	at	30	June	2009.

The	Company	manages	its	exposure	to	key	financial	risks	in	accordance	with	the	Risk	Management	Plan.

(i) Treasury Risk Management

The	Audit	and	Finance	Committee	consisting	of	senior	directors	meet	on	a	regular	basis	to	analyse	financial	
risk exposure and to evaluate treasury management strategies in the context of the most recent economic 
conditions and forecasts.

(ii) Financial Risk Exposures and Management

The	main	risks	the	Company	is	exposed	to	through	its	financial	instruments	are	interest	rate	risk,	liquidity	risk	
and credit risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest	rate	risk	relates	to	the	cash	deposits	at	Commonwealth	Bank	of	Australia	and	the	National	Australia	
Bank	(both	triple	AAA	rated	financial	institutions).	During	the	year	interest	rates	dropped	from	approximately	
8 per cent to 4 per cent.

The	forecast	by	the	market	for	2009/10	is	for	another	interest	rate	cut	in	the	first	half	year	and	then	stabilise	
at a record low interest rate for the rest of the year.

Foreign currency risk

The Company is not exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies.

Liquidity risk

The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows. The extent of exposure to liquidity 
risk is the carrying amounts of the liabilities and commitments as indicated in the Balance Sheet and 
Commitments schedule.

Trade and other payables will be settled between 21 to 30 days as per creditors terms. Employee leave will 
be settled as and when they fall due or when employment is terminated. The Company does not foresee any 
difficulty	in	meeting	its	financial	liabilities.

Credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date 
to	recognised	financial	assets,	is	the	carrying	amount,	net	of	any	provisions	for	impairment	of	those	assets,	
as	disclosed	in	the	balance	sheet	and	notes	to	the	financial	statements.

The Company does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables 
under	financial	instruments	entered	into	by	the	Company.

Levies	and	matching	payments	receivable	are	guaranteed	by	Commonwealth	Legislation.	All	receivables	are	
aged less than 30 days and are expected to be settled within the 14 or 28 days invoice term. There are no 
material amounts of collateral held as security at 30 June 2009.

Price risk

The Company is not exposed to any material commodity price risk.

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2009
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(b) Financial instruments

(i) Financial instrument composition and maturity analysis

The	Company’s	exposure	to	interest	rate	risk,	which	is	the	risk	that	a	financial	instruments	value	will	fluctuate	
as a result of changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average interest rates on classes of 
financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities,	is	as	follows:

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2009

 Weighted Average Floating Maturing within Non-interest 
 Effective Interest Rate  Interest Rate 1 year  Bearing Total
 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 
 % % $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Financial assets

Cash and 
cash equivalents 6.34 7.30 917,035 945,923 2,000,000 5,600,000 200 200 2,917,235 6,546,123

Long-term deposits 6.61 7.74 – – 7,047,105 4,562,610 – – 7,047,105 4,562,610

Receivables   – 6,553 – – 785,860 1,145,878 785,860 1,152,431

Total financial assets   917,035 952,476 9,047,105 10,162,610 786,060 1,146,078 10,750,200 12,261,164

Financial liabilities

Trade and sundry payables   – – – – 179,803 203,602 179,803 203,602

Total financial liabilities   – – – – 179,803 203,602 179,803 203,602

All	payables	and	receivables	are	expected	to	mature	in	less	than	6	months.	Long-term	deposits	are	expected	to	
mature in less than 6 months.

(ii) Net fair values

For	financial	assets	and	liabilities	the	net	fair	value	is	equal	to	their	carrying	values.	No	financial	assets	
or	financial	liabilities	are	readily	traded	on	organised	markets	in	standardised	form.

The	aggregate	net	fair	values	and	carrying	amounts	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	are	disclosed	
in	the	balance	sheet	and	in	the	notes	to	the	financial	statements.

Aggregate	net	fair	values	and	carrying	amounts	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	at	balance	date:

 Total Carrying Amount Aggregate Net Fair Value
 2009 2008 2009 2008 
 $ $ $ $

Financial assets

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 2,917,235	 6,546,123	 2,917,235	 6,546,123

Held-to-maturity	financial	assets	 7,047,105	 4,562,610	 7,047,105	 4,562,610

Receivables	 785,860	 1,152,431	 785,860	 1,152,431

 10,750,200 12,261,164 10,750,200 12,261,164

Financial liabilities

Other	liabilities	 179,803 203,602	 179,803	 203,602

 179,803 203,602 179,803 203,602
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(iii) Sensitivity analysis

The Company has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk at balance date. 
This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year results and equity which could result from 
a change in these risks.

At	30	June	2009,	the	effect	on	profit	and	equity	as	a	result	of	changes	in	the	interest	rate	based	on	the	
average	financial	assets	of	$10	million	would	be	as	follows:

    $

Change in profit

–	 Increase	in	interest	rate	by	1%	 	 	 100,000

–	 Decrease	in	interest	rate	by	1%	 	 	 (100,000)

Change in equity

–	 Increase	in	interest	rate	by	1%	 	 	 100,000

–	 Decrease	in	interest	rate	by	1%	 	 	 (100,000)

  2009 2008 
   $ $

15 Directors’ remuneration

Amounts	received,	or	due	and	receivable,	by	directors	 	 411,935	 382,347

The	names	of	directors	who	have	held	office	during	the	period 
are detailed in the directors report.

The number of directors whose remuneration was within the 
following bands are:

Director remuneration

$0	–	$19,999	 	 2	 7

$20,000	–	$39,999	 	 6	 1

$200,000	–	$249,999	 	 1	 –

$250,000	–	$299,999	 	 –	 1

  9 9

16 Auditors’ remuneration

Remuneration	of	the	auditor	of	the	Company	for:

–	 Auditing	the	financial	report	 	 9,500	 9,000

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2009
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17 Related-party transaction

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than 
those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

Transactions	with	related	parties	were	directors’	remuneration,	as	disclosed	in	Note	15.

During	the	year	$19,520	(2008:	$22,470)	were	paid	to	an	entity	controlled	by	the	Company	Secretary	
for secretarial services received.

18 Contingent liabilities

At	30	June	2009	the	Company	had	no	contingent	liabilities.

19 Amounts guaranteed

The	Company	has	issued	a	guarantee	in	the	amount	of	$31,773	in	favour	of	Parkside	Properties	Pty	Ltd	with	
respect to an agreement for leased premises at Level 4, 10-16 Queen Street, Melbourne. The guarantee is held 
in	term	deposit	with	Commonwealth	Bank	of	Australia.

  2009 2008 
   $ $

20 Operating Lease Commitments

By type

Other commitments

Operating	leases¹	 	 255,587	 309,792

Total commitments by type  255,587 309,792

By maturity

Operating lease commitments

One	year	or	less	 	 66,088	 63,547

From	one	to	five	years	 	 189,499	 246,245

Total commitments by maturity  255,587 309,792

NB:	Commitments	are	GST	inclusive	where	relevant

¹	Operating	leases	included	are	effectively	non-cancellable	and	comprise	leases	for	office	accommodation.

Leasing arrangement: Lease payments are subject to annual increase in accordance with upwards movements in 
the	Consumer	Price	Index.

 Annual   Commitments  Total 
Nature of lease Rental Terms Expiry  0-1 year 1-5 years  Commitments

Level 4, 
10-16 Queen Street 
Melbourne	VIC	3000	 $66,088	 5	years	 13/05/2013	 $	66,088	 $189,499	 $	255,587

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2009
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21 Assets held in trust

Russell Grimwade Prize Trust

Donations and Bequests Research Trust Account

Donations	and	bequests	for	specified	research	purposes	are	received	from	the	public	under	formal	trust	
arrangements.	Monies	received	are	placed	in	a	special	bank	account	and	expended	on	the	specified	research	
projects in accordance with the terms of the trusts. The company took over control of the trust monies from 
Forest	&	Wood	Products	Research	&	Development	Corporation	on	3	September	2007.	These	monies	are	not	
available	for	other	purposes	of	the	company	and	are	not	recognised	in	the	financial	statements.

  2009 2008 
   $ $

Opening	balance	at	the	beginning	year	 	 198,907	 192,519

Add:	interest	earned	 	 10,257	 6,388

Less: bank charges  (60) –

Closing balance at the end of year  209,104 198,907

22 Events after the balance date

No	events	have	occurred	since	30	June	2009	which	would	significantly	affect	the	operations	of	the	Company.

23 Company details

The	registered	office	of	the	Company	is:

Forest	&	Wood	Products	Australia	Limited 
Level 4, 10-16 Queen Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2009
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FINANCIAL REPORT
Auditor’s Independence Declaration
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Independent Audit Report
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FINANCIAL REPORT
Independent Audit Report
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RESEARCH PROJECTS 08/09

Investment Priorities

1 Information, analysis and interpretation of domestic and export markets

2 Timber construction in residential buildings

3 Timber construction in commercial and industrial buildings

4 Appearance	timber	products	and	markets (No	active	investments	for	the	08/09	period)

5 Wood products in sustainable buildings

6 Development of secondary products and markets for them (No	active	investments	for	the	08/09	period)

7 Solid	wood,	engineered	wood	and	pulp	and	paper	products:	Performance	and	yield

8 Maximising product yields and values from current resources

9 Improving wood quality and yield, and tools for forest management

10 Genetic improvement and delivery for increased wood yield and quality and for managing risks

11 Water use efficiency, access to resources and balanced policy outcomes

12 Forest biosecurity and preparedness

13 Mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change and the management of the carbon  
 cycle in plantations and native forests

14 Other
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RESEARCH PROJECTS 08/09

PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 
COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 1     Information, analysis and interpretation of domestic and export markets

Title: Collection and compilation of production, consumption and trade 
statistics for forestry and forest products industries to give stakeholders 
accessible information on current industry performance

378,788 739,576 PNA004–0607	

Research Provider:	Australian	Bureau	of	Agricultural	and	Resource	Economics

Title:	Provision	of	a	timber	market	survey	and	preparation	of	a	quarterly	
report	to	provide	information	on	prices	and	trends	in	Australian	wood	
product markets

334,878 669,756 PNA116–0809	

Research Provider:	URS	Australia	Pty	Ltd	(URS	Forestry)

Title:	Scoping	Study:	Material	in	new	Australian	residential	and	
commercial construction

5,000 5,000 PRA130–0809	

Research Provider:	Building	Products	Innovation	Council

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 2     Timber construction in residential buildings

Title: Determining means of improving the thermal performance of light-
weight domestic construction while validating the regulatory thermal 
performance	model,	AccuRate,	against	test	buildings,	particularly	those	
with light-weight timber floor construction

286,000 586,000 PNA001–0405	

Research Provider: University of Tasmania

Title:	New	JIS	mark	accreditation	criteria	for	wood	panels	
manufacturers

60,000 129,330 PNA002–0506

Research Provider:	Australian	Wood	Panels	Association

Title:	Specification	guide	for	timber	door	and	windows:	A	design	and	
technical	guide	for	the	specification	and	timber	joinery	industry	to	using	
timber windows and door joinery in buildings for all types

120,000 280,000 PNA009–0708

Research Provider: University of Tasmania

Title: Timber flooring – advanced research into floor performance issues

See page 35 of this report for details

169,283 315,603 PNA010–0708

Research Provider: Timber Queensland Ltd

Title:	Contemporary	sound	and	fire	rated	timber	framed	construction	
practices for low rise building (residential and commercial)

350,000 500,000 PNA011–0708	

Research Provider:	Timber	Development	Association	(NSW)	Ltd

Title:	Guidelines	for	verification	of	structural	timber	properties 122,015 139,832 PNA018–0809		

Research Provider:	Australian	Plantation	Products	& 
Paper	Industry	Council

Title: Strategy for large span second storey timber and wood products

See page 39 of this report for details

62,500 122,095 PNA020–0809

Research Provider:	Timber	Development	Association	(NSW)	Ltd

Title:	Reducing	fire	regulatory	barriers	and	standards	on	timber	and	
wood products

703,550 962,550 PNA025–0809		

Research Provider:	Timber	Development	Association	(NSW)	Ltd

Title: Timber product opportunities in the house remodelling market 92,000 138,000 PNA123–0809

Research Provider:	Timber	Development	Association	(NSW)	Ltd

Title:	Assessment	of	future	trends	in	size	and	design	preference	for	
domestic and light commercial decking applications

74,000 112,000 PNA134–0809	

Research Provider:	Timber	Development	Association	(NSW)	Ltd

Progress Symbols:        Ongoing after FY          Completed this FY
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PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 
COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Title:	Prevention	of	nailplate	tooth	withdrawal	in	plated	timber	trusses

See page 40 of this report for details

250,000 1,167,466 PNB036–0607	

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Sustainable	Ecosystems	

Title:	Stage	1	revision	of	AS1720	and	AS/NZS4063 259,270 259,270 PRA015–0708

Research Provider:	Timber	Built	Pty	Ltd	

Title:	Future	development	processes	for	Australian	timber	standards 74,370 74,370 PRA019–0809	

Research Provider: Holmes	McLeod	Consulting	Engineers	Pty	Ltd

Title:	Development	of	a	FWPA	Bushfire	Investment	Plan	to	
demonstrate the positive attributes of industry’s forest management 
activities	(plantation	&	native	forests)	and	support	the	use	of	wood	
products	in	bushfire-prone	areas

20,000 20,000 PRA117–0809

Research Provider:	TPC	Solutions	Pty	Ltd

Title:	Adoption	of	new	efficient	framing	technology	(research)	via	
amendment	to	AS	1684

29,302 29,302 PRA120–0809	

Research Provider: Timber Queensland Ltd

Title:	Bushfire	testing	of	roof	systems 52,100 75,700 PRA133–0809

Research Provider:	Exova	Warrington	Aust	Pty	Ltd

Title: Industry response to Draft Standards Committee (TM001) 
proposals	for	AS1720.1	and	AS/NZS	4063

20,000 20,000 PRB048–0809	

Research Provider:	TimberED	Services	Pty	Ltd	

Title: Consulting services to develop generic timber connector design 
software (Steven Hunt)

7,700 7,700 PRB121–0809

Research Provider:	Muller	Family	Trust	dba	–	Wood	Addiction

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 3     Timber construction in commercial and industrial buildings

Title: Innovative engineered timber building systems for non-
residential applications, utilising timber concrete composite flooring 
capable of spanning up to 8 to 10m

300,000 629,772 PNA012–0708	

Research Provider: University of Technology Sydney

Title:	New	applications	of	timber	in	non-traditional	market	segments,	
high rise residential and non-residential (commercial) buildings

86,425 185,900 PNA013–0708	

Research Provider:	SCION	(NZ)

Title:	Recognising	Opportunities	and	Constraints	to	increasing	 
the market for structural and appearance timber products in Multi-
Residential,	Commercial	and	Industrial	Building

45,000 90,500 PNA140–0809	

Research Provider: University of Tasmania 

Title: The development and implementation of innovative and 
sustainable	structural	timber	building	technologies	(FWPA	service	
agreement with STIC)

1,250,000 8,836,206 PRA028–0809

Research Provider: Structural Timber Innovation Company Ltd 

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 4     Appearance	timber	products	and	markets (No	active	investments	for	the	08/09	period)

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 5    Wood products in sustainable buildings

Title: Life cycle assessment of timber products – phase 2 729,000 1,656,299 PNA008–0708

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Sustainable	Ecosystems

Progress Symbols:        Ongoing after FY          Completed this FY
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*Contract terminated due to lack of progress against project milestones

PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 
COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Title:	Dynamics	of	carbon	stocks	in	timber	in	Australian	housing

See page 41 of this report for details

210,000 382,366 PNA016–0708

Research Provider: The University of Melbourne (Forestry)

Title: Comparative life cycle assessment study of various residential 
buildings

64,600 64,600 PNA147–0809

Research Provider:	RMIT	University

Title:	Development	of	an	Australian	life	cycle	assessment	methodology	
for building products

73,000 73,000 PRA026–0809

Research Provider:	Timber	Development	Association	(NSW)	Ltd	

Title: Investment plan for wood as a sustainable building material 49,941 49,941 PRA030–0809

Research Provider:	Ezard	Marketing	Pty	Ltd	

Title: International review of timber procurement mechanisms for the 
development	of	a	legality	framework	in	Australia

63,146 63,146 PRA031–0809	

Research Provider:	URS	Australia	Pty	Ltd	(URS	Forestry)

Title: Feedback to industry contributors to the LCI timber project 17,000 17,000 PRA136–0809

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Sustainable	Ecosystems

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 6     Development of secondary products and markets for them 
(No	active	investments	for	the	08/09	period)

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 7     Solid	wood,	engineered	wood	and	pulp	and	paper	products:	Performance	and	yield

Title: Development of visual grading rules for recycled timber

See page 34 of this report for details

67,431 195,091 	PNA006–0607

Research Provider:	Australian	Wood	Panels	Association

Title:	Assessing	the	ability	of	a	large-scale	fire	test	to	predict	the	
performance	of	wood	poles	exposed	to	bushfires	and	the	ability	of	fire	
protective formulations to reduce loss of wood poles exposed to severe 
bushfires	See page 38 of this report for details

60,000 201,115 PNA014–0708

Research Provider:	Energy	Networks	Association

Title:	Wood	recovery	and	recycling	–	a	source	book	for	Australia 61,558 471,627 	PNA017–0708

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title:	Pine	timber	roof	environments	in	Western	Australia	and	its	
susceptibility to European House Borer

600,500 1,682,500 PNA023–0809

Research Provider:	Dept	of	Agriculture	and	Food	WA

Title: Determination of acceptable levels of preservative treated timber 
in timber re-use applications

42,863 84,379 PNA029–0809

Research Provider: The University of Melbourne (Forestry)

Title: Mechano-sorptive and creep relationships for plantation 
softwoods in drying environments

114,000 508,000 PNB033–0405*

Research Provider:	SCION	(NZ)

Title:	Assessment	of	the	durability	of	isocyanate-based	adhesives	
to determine the potential to reduce the manufacturing costs and 
environmental footprint of engineered wood products

900,000 1,728,572 PNB034–0506

Research Provider:		CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Progress Symbols:        Ongoing after FY          Completed this FY
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PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 
COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Title:	Dynamics	of	carbon	stocks	in	timber	in	Australian	housing

See page 41 of this report for details

210,000 382,366 PNA016–0708

Research Provider: The University of Melbourne (Forestry)

Title: Comparative life cycle assessment study of various residential 
buildings

64,600 64,600 PNA147–0809

Research Provider:	RMIT	University

Title:	Development	of	an	Australian	life	cycle	assessment	methodology	
for building products

73,000 73,000 PRA026–0809

Research Provider:	Timber	Development	Association	(NSW)	Ltd	

Title: Investment plan for wood as a sustainable building material 49,941 49,941 PRA030–0809

Research Provider:	Ezard	Marketing	Pty	Ltd	

Title: International review of timber procurement mechanisms for the 
development	of	a	legality	framework	in	Australia

63,146 63,146 PRA031–0809	

Research Provider:	URS	Australia	Pty	Ltd	(URS	Forestry)

Title: Feedback to industry contributors to the LCI timber project 17,000 17,000 PRA136–0809

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Sustainable	Ecosystems

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 6     Development of secondary products and markets for them 
(No	active	investments	for	the	08/09	period)

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 7     Solid	wood,	engineered	wood	and	pulp	and	paper	products:	Performance	and	yield

Title: Development of visual grading rules for recycled timber

See page 34 of this report for details

67,431 195,091 	PNA006–0607

Research Provider:	Australian	Wood	Panels	Association

Title:	Assessing	the	ability	of	a	large-scale	fire	test	to	predict	the	
performance	of	wood	poles	exposed	to	bushfires	and	the	ability	of	fire	
protective formulations to reduce loss of wood poles exposed to severe 
bushfires	See page 38 of this report for details

60,000 201,115 PNA014–0708

Research Provider:	Energy	Networks	Association

Title:	Wood	recovery	and	recycling	–	a	source	book	for	Australia 61,558 471,627 	PNA017–0708

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title:	Pine	timber	roof	environments	in	Western	Australia	and	its	
susceptibility to European House Borer

600,500 1,682,500 PNA023–0809

Research Provider:	Dept	of	Agriculture	and	Food	WA

Title: Determination of acceptable levels of preservative treated timber 
in timber re-use applications

42,863 84,379 PNA029–0809

Research Provider: The University of Melbourne (Forestry)

Title: Mechano-sorptive and creep relationships for plantation 
softwoods in drying environments

114,000 508,000 PNB033–0405*

Research Provider:	SCION	(NZ)

Title:	Assessment	of	the	durability	of	isocyanate-based	adhesives	
to determine the potential to reduce the manufacturing costs and 
environmental footprint of engineered wood products

900,000 1,728,572 PNB034–0506

Research Provider:		CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 
COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Title: Measurement of formaldehyde and other emissions from wood 
panels using the 1m3 chamber and desiccator test methods

150,000 403,419 PNB035–0506

Research Provider:		Australian	Wood	Panels	Association

Title: Inspections of model timber window decay test

See page 36 of this report for details

38,000 109,516 PNB037–0708

Research Provider:		CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title:	Determining	optimised	H3	LOSP	treatment	options	for	decay	
protection in softwood glulam

79,481 159,281 PNB038–0708

Research Provider:		CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title:	Accelerated	H3	decay	testing	for	the	faster	evaluation	of	
alternative preservative timber treatments

225,000 477,000 PNB041–0708

Research Provider:		CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title:	A	review	of	the	potential	impact	of	VOC	emissions	on	the	future	
market share for engineered wood products

60,000 173,224, PNB043–0708

Research Provider:			CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title: Schedule deveopment, predictive modeling and economic 
viability	assessment	of	vacuum	drying	Australian	commercial	
hardwoods for potential industry investment

296,000 608,000 PNB045–0809

Research Provider:		Queensland	Primary	Industries	&	Fisheries,	
Department of Employment, Economic Development and Innovation

Title:	Review	of,	and	recommendations	for,	research	into	preventing	
or ameliorating drying related internal and surface checking in 
commercially	important	hardwood	species	in	south-eastern	Australia

52,134 89,268 PNB047–0809

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title: Inspection of preservative treated vineyard posts 15,000 52,799 PNB049–0809

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title:	Investigation	of	NDE	technologies	for	improved	drying	quality	to	
optimise kiln drying schedules, reduce drying degrade and accelerate 
kiln throughput in the hardwood sawmilling industry

178,000 308,700 PNB126–0809

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title:		The	Aus/NZ	Solid	Wood	Initiative:	Better	performing	structural	
products	manufactured	with	higher	efficiency	and	using	less	energy	 
and water

1,642,263 7,260,000 PNB131–0809

Research Provider: WQI Ltd

Title: Improving the durability of low durability plantation hardwoods for 
use as power poles

216,000 482,000 PNB146–0809

Research Provider:	Queensland	Primary	Industries	&	Fisheries,	
Department of Employment, Economic Development and Innovation

Title:	Standard	timber	profile	review	–	Part	2 19,000 29,385 PRA027–0809

Research Provider:		Timber	&	Building	Materials	Association

Title: Development of a program proposal to advance the Eco-slab 
concept 

21,008 21,008 PRA032–0809

Research Provider: Timber Queensland Ltd

Title: Facilitating general industry uptake of a robotic timber sorting and 
stacking system

19,800 19,800 PRA128–0809

Research Provider:		Q	A	Pty	Ltd

Progress Symbols:        Ongoing after FY          Completed this FY
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PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 
COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Title: Improve understanding of the performance of plywood 
manufactured from plantation grown eucalypts for forest growers and 
processors

25,000 69,000 PRB046–0809

Research Provider:		Forestry	NSW

Title: Testing of timber framed plywood sheathed box beam portal 
moment joints

30,000 30,000 PRB124–0809

Research Provider:		Australian	Wood	Panels	Association

Title:	Robotic	timber	sorting	and	stacking	system:	3D	simulation	design	
and trial associated gripper

39,200 116,374 PRB129–0809

Research Provider:	Machinery	Automation	and	Robotics	Pty	Ltd

Title:	FWPA	support	for	Plantation	Hardwood	Research	project	‘High	
value timber composite panels from hardwood plantation thinnings’

100,000 1,330,878 PRB145–0809

Research Provider:		Queensland	Primary	Industries	&	Fisheries,	
Department of Employment, Economic Development and Innovation

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 8     Maximising product yields and values from current resources

Title:	The	impact	on	the	properties,	market	utilisation,	and	profitability	
of retaining sapwood on the sawn boards of plantation and young 
hardwoods to increase volume recovery and average board width

240,000 486,220 PNB039–0708

Research Provider: University of Tasmania

Title:	MOE	and	MOR	assessment	technologies	for	improving	graded	
recovery	of	exotic	and	radiata	pines	in	Australia

235,000 450,000 PNB040–0708

Research Provider:	Queensland	Primary	Industries	&	Fisheries,	
Department of Employment, Economic Development and Innovation

Title: Locating resin shakes in slash pine billets using microwave 
transmission tomography – laboratory scale trial

85,520 238,710 PNB042–0708

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title: The effect of thinning on wood quality and solid wood product 
recovery in regrowth forests

203,000 648,980 PNC051–0607

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title: Standing tree measurement of acoustic velocity as a predictor of 
Kraft pulp yield in E. nitens across 2 sites

43,230 283,712 PNC053–0708

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Sustainable	Ecosystems

Title:	Field-based	application	of	NIR	as	a	predictor	of	pulp	quality	
across sites and species  See page 32 of this report for details

328,500 719,065 PNC055–0708

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Sustainable	Ecosystems

Title:	GLTAA	risk	management	framework 45,000 92,500 PRB044–0708

Research Provider: Glued	Laminated	Timber	Association	of	Australia	Pty	Ltd

Title: Comparison of solid wood quality and mechanical properties from 
3 species and 9 provenances of eucalypts grown in clearwood regimes 
across	southwest	western	Australia

30,000 277,615 PRC114–0708

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title: The potential to recover higher value veneer products from Fibre 
Managed	Plantation	Eucalyptus	and	broaden	product	and	market	
opportunities for this resource

240,000 640,000 PNB139–0809	

Research Provider: University of Tasmania

Progress Symbols:        Ongoing after FY          Completed this FY
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*Contract terminated due to lack of 
progress against project milestones

PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 
COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Title:	Western	Australian	Softwood	Resource	Evaluation:	a	survey	of	
key characteristics of the Pinus radiata and Pinus pinaster resources in 
Western	Australia	with	links	to	product	performance	of	trees	sampled	
from each resource, as determined by a processing study

142,000 274,000 PNC059–0809

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title:  Development of selection and implementation guide for the 
use	of	onboard	systems	for	improved	efficiency	and	value	recovery	in	
Australian	forest	operations

348,000 721,038 PNC119–0809

Research Provider:	CRC	Forestry	Ltd

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 9     Improving wood quality and yield, and tools for forest management

Title: Juvenile wood initiative 1,310,000 5,948,342 PNC050–0304

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Plant	Industry

Title:	Development	of	the	director	PH330	harvesting	head 68,000 150,000 PNC054–0708*

Research Provider:	Fibre-Gen	Instruments	Pty

Title: The variable retention harvest system 100,000 270,560 PNC062–0607

Research Provider:	Australian	National	University

Title:	Review	of	alternative	pine	species	for	low	rainfall	zones	of	Australia

See page 35 of this report for details

75,000 171,890 PNC070–0708

Research Provider:  University of Queensland

Title:	Decision	support	for	water	use	efficient	plantation	management	
and wood production (1. Managing plantations to increase wood yields 
and	water	use	efficiency)	See page 41 of this report for details

94,600 169,531 PNC073–0708

Research Provider:		CSIRO	Sustainable	Ecosystems

Title: Mapping foliar nutrition levels in Pinus radiata using hyperspectral 
satellite images to improve fertiliser requirement assessments 
See page 33 of this report for details

60,000 119,925 PNC074–0708

Research Provider:		CSIRO	Sustainable	Ecosystems

Title: Fertiliser usage in forestry: current status and prospects for 
increasing	its	efficiency	and	profitability	

See page 37 of this report for details

64,500 111,524 PRC072–0708

Research Provider:		CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title: Compromised Wood: Improving the properties of young radiata 
pine	using	fundamental	chemical	studies	and	NDE	techniques

75,000 2,906,000 PNC056–0809

Research Provider:		University	of	Canterbury	(NZ)

Title: Managing subtropical pines for improved wood production based 
on a better understanding of genetics, silviculture, environment and their 
interactions

355,270 746,017 PNC057–0809

Research Provider:	Forestry	Plantations	Queensland

Title:	Adoption	of	new	airborne	technologies	for	improving	efficiencies	
and accuracy of estimating standing volume and yield modelling in 
Pinus radiata plantations

125,215 456,411 PNC058–0809	

Research Provider:	NSW	Department	of	Primary	Industries

Title:	CRC	for	Forestry	Participant	contribution 700,000 29,260,000 PNC065–0607

Research Provider:	CRC	Forestry	Ltd

Progress Symbols:        Ongoing after FY          Completed this FY
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PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 
COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Title: Growth predictions in private spotted gum dominant forests in 
Queensland	and	northern	NSW	to	provide	landholders	with	silvicultural	
tools to assist them in spotted gum stand management

225,424 884,493 PNC075–0708

Research Provider:	Queensland	Primary	Industries	&	Fisheries,	
Department of Employment, Economic Development and Innovation

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 10   Genetic improvement and delivery for increased wood yield and quality and for  
                                           managing risks

Title:	Accelerated	breeding	for	high	pulp	yield	in	E. nitens	using	DNA	
markers	identified	in	100	cell	wall	genes:	The	Hottest	100

393,182 988,185 PNC052–0708

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Plant	Industry

Title:  Development of Breeding Objective and Economic Weights for 
Disease,	Insect	and	Drought	Resistance	for	Radiata	Pine

98,023 435,495 PNC069–0708

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Materials	Science	&	Engineering

Title:	Analysis	of	genetic	and	tree	performance	data	across	whole	of	
industry	using	TREEPLAN	to	identify	superior	trees	to	lift	productivity,	
quality and economic value of the forestry resource

375,000 939,554 PNC076–0809

Research Provider:	Southern	Tree	Breeding	Association

Title:	Active	Genetic	Conservation	and	Utilization	of	Native	Radiata	Pine	
Germplasm for Increasing Genetic Gain of Growth, Form and Wood 
Quality,	and	Risk	Traits

210,000 820,925 PNC135–0809

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Plant	Industry

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 11     Water use efficiency, access to resources and balanced policy outcomes

Title:	Predicting	and	managing	the	impacts	of	commercial	plantations	
on catchment water balances See page 37 of this report for details

250,000 504,581 PNC061–0405

Research Provider: The University of Melbourne (Forestry)

Title: Quantifying plantation water use in the Green Triangle 
See page 38 of this report for details

187,222 781,846 PNC064–0607

Research Provider:		CSIRO	Sustainable	Ecosystems

Title:	Predicting	Eucalyptus nitens plantation water use using growth 
parameters

303,000 828,270 PNC143–0809

Research Provider:  Forestry Tasmania

Title: The	Impacts	of	Plantations	and	Native	Forests	on	Water	Security:	
Review	and	Scientific	Assessment	of	Regional	Issues	and	Research	Needs

60,000 131,417 PRC071–0708

Research Provider:		CSIRO	Sustainable	Ecosystems

Title: Methods to accurately assess water allocation impacts of plantations 200,000 200,000 PRC115–0809

Research Provider:			CSIRO	Water	for	a	Healthy	Country	Flagship

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 12    Forest biosecurity and preparedness

Title: Introduction of the wasp, Diaeretus essigellae, for the biocontrol of 
pine	aphid	in	Australia

598,708 1,140,000 PNC063–0607

Research Provider: 	South	Australian	Research	&	Development	Institute

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 13   Mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change and the management of the carbon
cycle in plantations and native forests

Title:	Assessing	sensitivity	and	vulnerabiltiy	to,	and	a	preliminary	
examination	of	adaptation	options	for,	Australia’s	plantation	estate	under 
climate change scenarios

180,711 432,538 PNC068–0708

Research Provider:	CSIRO	Sustainable	Ecosystems

Progress Symbols:        Ongoing after FY          Completed this FY
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PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 
COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Title: Carbon in timber within a national emissions trading scheme – 
methodologies and mechanisms

43,203 44,523 PRA021–0809

Research Provider:	Australian	Plantation	Products	&	Paper	Industry	Council

INVESTMENT PRIORITY 14   Other

Title: Development of technical educational resources and support of 
Continuing	Professional	Development,	tertiary	and	trade	level	education	
and	training	to	support	and	educate	existing	and	future	users/specifiers	
of	timber	products	(TRP)

700,000 1,400,000 PNA024–0809

Research Provider:	TPC	Solutions	Pty	Ltd

Title:	Joint	Venture	for	Agroforestry	Program	(JVAP)	provides	
knowledge	to	underpin	profitable,	sustainable	and	resilient	agroforestry	
within	Australian	farming	systems	and	landscapes	in	the	light	of	the	
dramatically	changing	contexts	of	climate	change	(JVAP	2005-2009)

400,000 4,200,000 PNC066–0607

Research Provider:	Rural	Industries	R	&	D	Corporation

Title:  Socio-economic impacts of land use change in the Green 
Triangle and Central Victoria

40,000 526,351 PNC067–0708

Research Provider:	CRC	Forestry	Ltd

Title:	Contribution	of	CAR	reserves	to	mature	forest	biodiversity	in	
production forest landscapes

260,000 522,474 PNC142–0809

Research Provider: Forestry Tasmania

Title:	timberDESIGN	Australasia 135,000 135,000 PRA007–0607

Research Provider:		Neilson	Publishing	Ltd

Title:	National	Waste	Policy 4,000 4,000 PRA138–0809

Research Provider:	Australian	Plantation	Products	&	Paper	Industry	
Council

Title:	Certification	of	ATCA	(testing	laboratory	for	EWPAA)	as	an	
approved	third	party	certification	agency	under	CARB

28,000 56,000 PRB144–0809

Research Provider:		AWPA	Test	Centre	Association	Inc	(ATCA)

Title: Development of an Industry issues paper through consultation 
with key industry participants that highlights the current challenges and 
future	requirements	for	a	sustainable	Hardwood	Plantation	Industry	in	
Tropical	Australia

5,000 5,000 PRC141–0809

Research Provider:  Bald Head Consulting

Title:	Cost-benefit	analysis	of	FWPRDC/FWPA	project	portfolio 8,000 8,000 PRD090–0809

Research Provider:		Agtrans	Research

Title: Evaluation of research expenditure and capacity in forestry and 
forest	products	in	Australia	2007-2008	and	development	of	research	
project briefs

39,050 39,050 PRD111–0809

Research Provider:			Forsci	Pty	Ltd

Title:	Development	of	a	Draft	Forest-sector	Research,	Development	and	
Extension	Strategy	as	Specified	in	the	Intergovernmental	Agreement	on	
a	National	Framework	for	Primary	Industries	Research,	Development	
and Extension

23,719 23,719 PRE127–0809

Research Provider:		Sarre	et	al.	Pty	Ltd

Progress Symbols:        Ongoing after FY          Completed this FY
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Glossary of participating organisations

ACAD	 	 	 Australian	Council	of	Agricultural	Deans

AECL	 	 	 Australian	Egg	Corporation	Limited

APL	 	 	 Australian	Pork	Limited

AWI	 	 	 Australian	Wool	Innovation

CRDC	 	 	 Cotton	Research	and	Development	Corporation

DAIRY	AUST.	 	 Dairy	Australia	Limited

DAFF	 	 	 Department	of	Agriculture,	Fisheries	and	Forestry

DAFWA	 	 	 Department	of	Agriculture	and	Food,	Western	Australia

NSW	DPI	 	 Department	of	Primary	Industries,	New	South	Wales

VIC	DPI	 	 	 Department	of	Primary	Industries,Victoria

DPIW	 	 	 Department	of	Primary	Industries,	Water	and	Environment,	Tasmania

QLD	DPI		 	 Department	of	Primary	Industries	and	Fisheries,	Queensland

DRDPIFR	 	 Department	of	Regional	Development,	Primary	Industry,	Fisheries	and	Resources	

FRDC	 	 	 Fisheries	Research	&	Development	Corporation

FWPA	 	 	 Forest	&	Wood	Products	Australia

GRDC	 	 	 Grains	Research	&	Development	Corporation

GWRDC		 	 Grape	and	Wine	Research	and	Development	Corporation

HAL	 	 	 Horticulture	Australia	Limited

LWA	 	 	 Land	&	Water	Australia

MLA	 	 	 Meat	&	Livestock	Australia

RIRDC	 	 	 Rural	Industries	Research	and	Development	Corporation

SRDC	 	 	 Sugar	Research	and	Development	Corporation

PIRSA	 	 	 Primary	Industries	and	Resources,	South	Australia	

CSIRO	 	 	 Commonwealth	Scientific	and	Industrial	Research	Organisation
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1

2

3

4

5 6

7

tree // p5

1 Blackwood (Acacia melanoxylon)

2 Mahogany (Swietenia sp.)

3 Tasmanian Oak (Eucalyptus obliqua)

4 Mahogany (Swietenia sp.)

5 Merbau (Intsia bijuga)

6 Mahogany (Swietenia sp.)

7 Blackwood (Acacia melanoxylon)

1

2
3

4

5

6

7

house // p22

1 Spotted Gum (Corymbia maculata)

2 Spotted Gum (Corymbia maculata)

3 Radiata Pine (Pinus radiata)

4 Radiata Pine (Pinus radiata)

5 Blackwood (Acacia melanoxylon)

6 Radiata Pine (Pinus radiata)

7 Hoop Pine (Araucaria cunninghamii)

1

2
3

4

5

6

7

person // p31

1 Radiata Pine (Pinus radiata)

2 Hoop Pine (Araucaria cunninghamii)

3 Radiata Pine (Pinus radiata)

4 Radiata Pine (Pinus radiata)

5 Hoop Pine (Araucaria cunninghamii)

6 Merbau (Intsia bijuga)

7 Blackwood (Acacia melanoxylon)

1

2

3

4
5

6

7

factory // p7

1 Tasmanian Oak (Eucalyptus obliqua)

2 Merbau (Intsia bijuga)

3 Tasmanian Oak (Eucalyptus obliqua)

4 Spotted Gum (Corymbia maculata)

5 Tasmanian Oak (Eucalyptus obliqua)

6 Blackwood (Acacia melanoxylon)

7 Merbau (Intsia bijuga)

Glossary of participating organisations

ACAD	 	 	 Australian	Council	of	Agricultural	Deans

AECL	 	 	 Australian	Egg	Corporation	Limited

APL	 	 	 Australian	Pork	Limited

AWI	 	 	 Australian	Wool	Innovation

CRDC	 	 	 Cotton	Research	and	Development	Corporation

DAIRY	AUST.	 	 Dairy	Australia	Limited

DAFF	 	 	 Department	of	Agriculture,	Fisheries	and	Forestry

DAFWA	 	 	 Department	of	Agriculture	and	Food,	Western	Australia

NSW	DPI	 	 Department	of	Primary	Industries,	New	South	Wales

VIC	DPI	 	 	 Department	of	Primary	Industries,Victoria

DPIW	 	 	 Department	of	Primary	Industries,	Water	and	Environment,	Tasmania

QLD	DPI		 	 Department	of	Primary	Industries	and	Fisheries,	Queensland

DRDPIFR	 	 Department	of	Regional	Development,	Primary	Industry,	Fisheries	and	Resources	

FRDC	 	 	 Fisheries	Research	&	Development	Corporation

FWPA	 	 	 Forest	&	Wood	Products	Australia

GRDC	 	 	 Grains	Research	&	Development	Corporation

GWRDC		 	 Grape	and	Wine	Research	and	Development	Corporation

HAL	 	 	 Horticulture	Australia	Limited

LWA	 	 	 Land	&	Water	Australia

MLA	 	 	 Meat	&	Livestock	Australia

RIRDC	 	 	 Rural	Industries	Research	and	Development	Corporation

SRDC	 	 	 Sugar	Research	and	Development	Corporation

PIRSA	 	 	 Primary	Industries	and	Resources,	South	Australia	

CSIRO	 	 	 Commonwealth	Scientific	and	Industrial	Research	Organisation
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